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“The Surveying & Spatial Sciences Institute (SSSI) is Australia's peak
body representing the interests of surveying and spatial science
professionals, combining the disciplines of land surveying, engineering
& mining surveying, cartography, hydrography, remote sensing and
spatial information science.”

Vision and Mission

OUR VISION
To provide a globally recognised forum for the surveying
and spatial sciences community that leads, promotes,
advocates and delivers excellence.

OUR MISSION
To develop professional excellence, provide a support
network and enrich the lives of our individual members,
in addition to progressing the surveying and spatial
professions in Australia and abroad.
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Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute
The Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute combines the disciplines of land, hydrographic, engineering and
mining surveying, photogrammetry, cartography, geodesy, remote sensing and spatial information science. The
Institute’s members are involved in communities of practice such as land administration, land development,
natural resource management, earth observation, emergency management, forestry, agriculture, defence,
marine environment, local government, health, education, tourism, transport and many more.
Surveyors and Spatial Scientists deal with policy, administration, collection, measurement, analysis,
interpretation, portrayal and dissemination of spatially-related land and sea information, together with
associated planning, design and management. They also acquire, integrate, manage, analyse, interpret, map or
distribute information about a location in space and time. They develop, design and provide related equipment,
software and value-added services; undertake applied research, knowledge management and technology
development; and manage, educate and train others.
The principal objects of the Institute are:













to empower the Members to strive for excellence in the application and practice of surveying and
spatial science for the benefit of the community;
to represent, support, provide for and promote the professional interests of Members that work in the
surveying and spatial industry in all its disciplines;
to provide a national and regional identity to enable the development of the surveying and spatial
industry as a whole;
to maintain and promote standards for Members and professional conduct of Members who work in the
surveying and spatial industry;
to encourage, promote and assist Members to:

pursue their professional commitments in an ethical, energetic and scientific manner;

maintain a high level of personal and professional esteem when interacting with the
community, clients, colleagues and allied professionals;

actively participate in the processes that shape society;

encourage, assist and to professionally develop new surveying and spatial science graduates;
to enhance the professional character and status of Members who practice in the surveying and spatial
sciences as worthy contributors to the community;
to promote honourable professional conduct and surveying and spatial science practice and to
safeguard the interests of the profession of surveying and spatial science generally;
to encourage the study of surveying and spatial sciences and to improve the general professional and
technical knowledge of surveyors and spatial scientists and persons intending to engage in the
professions of surveying or spatial science;
to promote and provide the awarding of prizes, scholarships, exhibitions, bursaries and funds for the
purposes of education in all branches of surveying and spatial science and;
to write, edit, print, publish, issue and circulate a periodic journal or journals, papers circulars and other
literary matter as is conducive to the other objects set out in the Constitution to facilitate the exchange
of ideas and knowledge between Members of the Institute and the community generally by lectures,
conferences and any other means and to maintain libraries and data bases of materials and publications
relevant to the spatial sciences.
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President’s Report
This last year – 2016/17 – was an interesting mix of positive achievements and difficult challenges
for SSSI. We continue to provide quality services to our members and to the wider community.
These of course include a range of webinars, regional conferences and the National event: Locate,
all allowing our members to maintain a high level of growth in their professional development.
I realise that it is customary to thank all volunteers for the enormous effort provided, but this
year, SSSI’s activities have increased substantially, much of it driven by men and women willing to
give time and effort – so again a very special thanks to everyone who have contributed. Without
volunteers there would be no SSSI.

As we all know, this year we implemented the new structures embedded in the new constitution. We have installed a new Board, with
broader responsibility and representation. Although some of the regions started slowly, we now have fully functioning Commission and
Regional Management Committees. On top of these, during the SSSI National Taskforce Review process, many standing advisory
committees were proposed, and have now been implemented, to improve services to members and the professions. Overall, these
changes have proven to be successful, because it focuses attention on specific matters of importance to the Institute. Herewith a brief
comment on some of these:
Permanent Advisory Committees
These Committees exists to provide the Board with focused, specialised advice.
 With the disbanding of the Consultative Council some of their responsibilities were handed over to the Commission Chairs
committee. This is now well established and manages all commission matters at a national level. Their narrow focus allows
them to concentrate on issues central to all professions and commissions within SSSI. This committee is currently chaired by
Richard Cullen.
 The Board no longer has a single individual tasked with the responsibility of the treasurer. This responsibility now rests with the
Finance, Risk and Audit Permanent Committee, and this shift has proven very successful. Since the establishment of this
committee the Board has received good financial advice from a group of members with many years’ experience in financial
matters. This committee is currently chaired by Alex Leigh.
 Our Ethical Standards forms a pillar of this Institute. We have established the Professional Standards committee, who is now
tasked with managing all ethical issues as well as the complaints procedure. The committee has reworked the procedures and
documentation relevant to ethical standards and can handle any issues delegated to them. The committee is also connected to
the ethical committees of international partners such as FIG and URISA as well as Professions Australia. There is no permanent
Complaints Committee, however, the Professional Standards Committee has established the procedure to establish such a
committee when required. For that reason, membership of the Professional Standards Committee requires a more rigorous
vetting process. This committee is currently chaired by myself.
 SSSI has always had a Membership committee, but its formation in the past was structured around review of applications only.
In line with the recommendations received from our membership, this committee now has the status of a Permanent Advisory
Committee status and they are tasked with broader responsibilities in terms of Membership management. This committee has
done some excellent work in the past that was often not as visible as it should have been – these changes should remedy this
issue. This committee is currently chaired by John Minehan.
Standing Committees
These committees are more operational and exist to further the vision mission and purpose of SSSI.
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For the first time we now have a functioning national committee tasked with Education and Leadership Development. It took a
while for the Education committee to get fully established, but now that it is, they have made good progress at a national level.
National vs Regional activities are not fully coordinated yet, but a broad discussion was initiated, and we see positive signs in this
space. This is an important matter and many members have been involved in a broad range of educational outreach activities.
This committee understands the value and contribution made by many – also by other bodies. They are discussing, negotiating
and generally engaging roll players across Australia. We don’t know what the future will look like, but we are currently engaged
with roll players and programs such as “Survey: A Life without Limits” and “Destination Spatial”. This committee is currently
chaired by Greg Ledwidge.
Unfortunately, the proposed Career Development committee has not been fully established yet. A start was made but the person
who took on this job had to withdraw due to extreme work-life issues. In the new year we will turn our attention to this
committee again.
The Fellows and Honorary Fellows committee has always been active and although we have had a change in the role of chair –
this committee continues as previously. This committee is currently chaired by Peter Swan.
The Future Directions proposal suggested the establishment Membership Services Standing committee, different from the
Member Advisory Committee, with emphasis on the ‘Services’. This committee is highly dependent on the SSSI Website, and
therefore have not had the opportunity to deliver much. This has now all changed, and we will see more from them in future.
This committee is currently chaired by Kerry Smyth.
The Board initially tried to create another committee to manage the Journal of Spatial Sciences. After some discussion with the
Board of the Journal of Spatial Sciences, it was decided to establish a closer relationship with the board who are already doing a
great job. We are currently in discussions to determine how this will work, as we must remember that this is a joint venture with
MSIA.
The Board has also started with the formation of a group to help with the management of SSSI content for Position magazine.
Unfortunately, progress has not been as quick as we wanted, so more work needs to be done before we will see the advantages of
having this group.


Collaborations
As Peak National Body for Survey and Spatial professions, SSSI takes its relationships with other players in this industry quite seriously. The
fractious relationships in the industry is harmful to everyone. We have decided that it would be more prudent for us to focus on our role
in the industry; do what we do, to the best of our ability and to engage in discussion with others as much as we can.
It is important to note again that the 2026 Agenda document was released during Locate 2017. This document outlines many activities
within the spatial industry that will foster growth in the industry. SSSI believes that not all the activities are relevant to us an Institute.
However, the document is a valuable resource and as far as Professional Practice and Development is concerned, it aligns with our own
strategy and as such it is a worthwhile cause to support. As far as this agenda is concerned, we intend to provide leadership in terms of
Education, the Bodies of Knowledge, Professional Practice and Professional Development while we continue to collaborate on other
strategies in the agenda. Burt as stated in previous communication, we do not consider any mergers with bodies such as SIBA.
These are some of our activities in support of collaboration:
 Although the Future Directions proposal suggested that a separate Locate Conference Planning standing committee be
established by SSSI, the board has decided to work with SIBA in this regard. Locate Conference Planning is now managed by a
joint SIBA / SSSI committee who reports to the Locate Board. SSSI provides three members of the six-member management
group. Dr. Zaffar Mohamed-Ghouse currently heads this team.
 Another suggestion from the Future Directions proposal was for SSSI to establish an Awards & Recognition Standing Committee.
On this front, and because of the many overlaps, SSSI proposed to SIBA that instead of a stand-alone committee, we collaborate
to form a joint front. This was met with their approval, and we are working towards this goal.
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While we do recognise SIBA as a partner, we also recognise that this partnership will not be helpful in all jurisdictions. We have
started, quite some time ago, with an endeavour to establish a good relationship with the EISSI franchise owners, ACS and
ISNSW. We have made some good progress, but for this past year were again knocked back, resulting in the undesirable
situation that two sets of industry awards were conducted for NSW. This is not a healthy situation and SSSI continues to discuss
the issue. We understand that the other parties are also prepared to continue this discussion.
SSSI is proud of its heritage and especially proud of its ISA lineage. But after the failure to bring all the players together under
SSSI, the conversations around survey issues of national concern also stopped. This year we decided to change that. We have
established a National Survey Discussion Forum. Currently this is an agreement to engage in discussion relevant to the survey
profession and currently involves members from SSSI, ISNSW and ISVIC. There is no formal MOU or like agreement – just an
agreement to talk. We are committed to continue along this path.
We all know that SSSI is the National representative for the Survey and Spatial Industries at an international level. Apart from
these large international relationships, many smaller groups have asked for liaison at some level as well. Unfortunately, a
number of these agreements ended up slipping, and this caused some embarrassment for the institute. We have rectified the
issue by establishing an International Liaison group to keep an eye on international relationships. This committee is currently
chaired by Rob Sarib.

In reading this, you are probably wondering about the number of committees and groups. It is not an easy task, but remember we are
here for the members, and we are also volunteers. There is room for many more people to assist. Yes – we need you!
WEBSITE
At the beginning of this year the Board decided to load membership fees with a small amount to redevelop our website. Our
management team were informed that the website was vulnerable, and that speedy action was required. However, after the website was
compromised twice in one month, a Quick-Fix was applied, but this simply resulted in extra costs with no real solution. When the site was
compromised again, with Quick-Fix in place, the Board reviewed all the issues at stake and decided to take the site down all together. This
hampered our ability to provide the service our members expect, but thanks to extra effort by staff, the service levels remained high.
Communication though was difficult and at times had a negative impact on the service provided to our members.
After our General Manager departed, one of our Board members, Alex Leith took over the role of project manager on the website and
thanks largely to Alex and the staff, we have a new website today. The Board truly appreciates the time and effort he put in.
HIGHLIGHTS
 This year’s conferences were especially noteworthy. Many reported that Locate 17 was one of the best. Participants
commented on the high quality of the program and divers yet comprehensive range of topics. The organising team also made a
special effort to be more inclusive of the survey disciplines, and although admittedly there is a lot more room for improvement,
the general feeling was that it is on the right track forward. Vendors likewise provided positive feedback, some even booking
their spots for the next one. I will leave the regional reports to the respective chairs, but want to note that at regional level there
was again some very positive messages around the events.
 Going into this year the board approved a budget with a small loss. I am however glad to report that we ended up with a small
profit of $$$$, thanks largely to Locate 2017.
MEMBERSHIP
It frustrates me to report that the SSSI membership numbers are still down despite our recent governance reform. The Board has had an
in-depth look at the reasons for this and cannot pinpoint any single cause, but has identified a number of contributing factors. I feel that
it is my responsibility to discuss these factors in a bit more detail:
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SSSI Website Attacked –This caused the old website to be de-commissioned prematurely, an interim stop gap page, and an
acceleration of the planned redeveloped project. The unavailability of the Website as our primary mode of communication, was
frustrating for staff and members alike. Essentially, the situation deterred existing members from renewing and potential
members from joining. We believe this was a major problem this year. Having it back up is great, but the process took way too
long.
Rising Competition – due to fracturing in the industry whereby previously marginalised or dormant groups are re-generating and
offering attractive membership rates. Fracturing is not good for our institute, nor is it great for the industry. We believe in
regular open dialogues and continue to invite conversations. We will also continue to strive towards excellence in member
services.
Lack of Diversity – including age, gender and cultural diversity.
 Generational issues. The age profile of SSSI membership does not reflect the age profile of the wider industry. SSSI
projects an image of a traditional professional body that is in decline. We are still an aging industry and there are many
members of retiring age. There is however, a fixation with age rather than promoting the value of intergenerational
skills and knowledge transfer. I am grateful for some real leadership shown by the YP committee who have done an indepth survey and come up with valuable recommendations. Implementing these will help us to focus on getting
younger generations engaged while we still serve the wider community.
 Gender Issues. There is still a hidden bias towards women in our industry. There is still a large remuneration gap, and
consequently, women seem to be less engaged in professional matters. Our Women in Spatial group are currently
collaborating with FIG to produce a Commission 1 Paper on this issue – and they need help. But it is not enough to
contribute towards the International conversation only. We need to do something about this locally too. So, what will
we do?
o Provide continued support for WIS group in SSSI – I have invited the chair of women in spatial to have an
observer status on the Board and I encourage more people – men and women, to join this special interest
group
o Work towards equal numbers of women on committees and boards
o Get equal numbers of women on keynote panels during conferences and seminars.
o We have also introduced a new award recognising woman in the industry.
Pace of Change - In 2015 our membership requested a review of internal issues. This resulted in the new constitution, but I
realise that it will take time to turn everyone around. These changes are only now starting to show positive returns.
Marketing & Communication Channels – We recognise that SSSI has not been proactive in adapting to a range of media options
that are popular for different demographics and market sectors. These options are resource hungry and don’t reflect the skills
base of our volunteers. An increased membership base would potentially draw in these skills.

I remain optimistic as we have already seen positive signs. However – we realise that there is no room for complacency and are
committed to do our best.

Gabriel Van Wyk
President
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The Board 2016-17

Bernard O’Sullivan (ESP-AP) – President 1/7/16 – 24/11/16
Bernard O’Sullivan, General Manager of Survey Results, based in Perth, Western
Australia has over 15 years of experience in the construction industry. Bernard’s
outstanding achievements in the field of Engineering Surveying have seen him recently
recognised as the 2014 WA Young Professional of the Year at the WA Spatial Excellence
Awards. He is also the worthy recipient of the 2013 Services to the WA Surveying and
Spatial Services Community Award, nationally the 2012 SSSI Presidents Award, as well as
his project being highly commended in the 2010 Spatial Excellence Awards for the
construction of the Woodman Point, Egg-Shaped Digester.
Bernard has been a SSSI Board Member since 2013. He was also a Locate Conferences
Australia board member and was the Acting Chair of the Engineering and Mining
Surveying Commission 2011-2016.
Bernard holds a Diploma of Engineering and Mining Surveying and has been SSSI ESP-AP
certified since 2012.
Gabriel van Wyk – President

24/11/16 – 30/6/17
Gabriel Van Wyk plays a strategic role at Open Spatial Australia where he manages the
team of Geospatial Consultants. He is currently SSSI President-Elect, the Chair of SSSI
NSW, is a member of the SSSI Consultative Council and a Director of SSSI.
Gaby graduated as a geographer and has been working in the field of GIS for more than
30 years. He has had an extensive career in consultation to various government
agencies, utilities and the corporate sector on delivering strategic or mission-critical
solutions with integrated spatial intelligence. His areas of interest and expertise extend
into Open Data, Emergency and Early Warning Systems, Big Data Management, Cross
System Data Integration and Data Integrity. Gaby also lectured in Geo-Information
Science at the University of Pretoria, was a leading contributor to the South African
Standards Generating body for GIS and is also the past president of GISSA (SSSI of
South Africa).
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Alex Leith – Director

1/7/16 – 30/6/17
Alex Leith works as a software developer for the Cooperative Research Centre for
Spatial Information, and is the Chairman of the Tasmanian Regional Committee of
the Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute, as well as a member of the SSSI Board of
Directors.
Alex graduated with a degree in Surveying and Spatial Information Sciences with
honours in 2011, and was certified as a Geographic Information Systems Professional
in 2015. Alex received the Young Processional of the Year, Tasmania, in 2013 and
again in 2015, and has won the Most Outstanding Tasmanian Benefit two years in a
row at GovHack Tasmania.
Alex has a background in systems administration and spatial software development.
More recently, his work has been focused in the area of DevOps, designing and
implementing full-stack solutions using open source software and cloud
infrastructure. He has a keen interest in technology and experience and expertise
with a wide range of data, software and hardware related to spatial information. Alex
has presented at several international, national and local conferences and is the
founder of the Tasmanian GeoRabble chapter.

Kerry Smyth – Director

1/7/16 – 30/6/17
Kerry Smyth has over 35 years experience in the Spatial Sciences professions including technical,
management, operational and strategic roles. Kerry runs her own consulting business Spatialize,
and is extensively committed to SSSI as WA Chair, SIC Commission and Board Director. Previously,
she held senior positions in the WA Departments Planning, Landgate, Land Information, Land
Administration, and Land Surveys. Kerry has diverse leadership experience in customer service,
marketing, project and contract management, procurement, plus financial, human resource and
asset management. She is a core change agent and driver for improvement.
Kerry is a recognized technical leader and mentor for women in non-traditional professions, having
paved the way in many gender first achievements. Kerry has professional certification GISP-AP, a
BSc Cartography (with distinction) from Curtin Uni, Dip Eng Surv, Dip Carto, Cert Public Sector
Management, Cert Quality Customer Service, and is a Local Govt Elected Member. She has always
played an active role in the promotion of the profession through SSSI and predecessors, SSI, MSIA,
AURISA, AIC & IMTA.
Kerry Smyth has been the Convener of the WA Surveying and Spatial Sciences Conference for 4
consecutive years. She is recognized nationally for an outstanding career in the spatial sciences and
her leadership of professionals in non-traditional roles. Kerry was WA Spatial Professional of the
Year 2015 and is currently involved with pro bono strategic projects and voluntary work for not for
profit organisations including SSSI. She works as a spatial ambassador and expert witness through
her consultancy Spatialize.
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Jonathan Saxon – Treasurer 1/7/16 – 24/11/16; Company Secretary
Jonathan Saxon is the Managing Director of Project Surveyors (formerly Clement &
Reid). Jonathan is a Registered Land Surveyor in NSW since 1993, and holds a
Bachelor of Surveying Degree from UNSW (1988). Jonathan also has a Masters of
Management Degree from Macquarie Graduate School of Management – a world
ranked Management School, and a part of Macquarie University, which he obtained
in 2001.
Jonathan has been primarily employed in the private sector as a Surveyor since
graduation, and has been managing his current business since 1995, as one of three
directors. In 2008 he became the last President of the Institution of Surveyors
Australia, and in 2009, was the first President of the Surveying and Spatial Sciences
Institute. Jonathan was also a member of the Merger Working Group which
ultimately saw the creation of the Institute by fully merging SSI and ISA together.
Jonathan held the role of Treasurer from 2010 to 2016.
Zaffar Sadiq Mohamed-Ghouse – Director 1/7/16 – 30/6/17
Dr Zaffar Sadiq Mohamed-Ghouse is the Director - Business, Research (NSW) & International
Relations at the Australia New Zealand Cooperative Research Centre for Spatial Information
(CRCSI). Zaffar holds a pivotal role as an adviser to various National and International spatial
organisations. He has published 40 research papers and represents Australia on the ISO
Technical Committee for Geoinformation and Geomatics. He has 18 years of experience
working in Academia, Industry and Government. Zaffar has led successfully Multi-Million
Dollar Spatial projects in Australia. He is also a member of several boards and technical
committees in Australia and Overseas. Zaffar has published research papers at International
and National levels focusing on GIS applications to support such areas as: spatial data
infrastructure, data quality, groundwater management, water resources, rural
administration, asset management, field data capture, public health management and
disaster management.
Zaffar is a recipient of the “Young Professional Award” by the Surveying Spatial Sciences
Institute, Victoria in the year 2011. He holds an Honorary Senior Fellow appointment at the
Department of Infrastructure, Engineering, the University of Melbourne, University Associate
appointment at the Curtin University and Visiting Expert at the University of Technology
Malaysia. Zaffar also serves on the Technical Advisory Group of the Foundation Spatial Data
Framework (FSDF), led by the ANZLIC Secretariat. Currently, Zaffar serves as Board of
Director at the SSSI and Locate Conferences Australia Pty ltd. He has held several leadership
position at SSSI since 2010. He has served as Chair of SSSI Victoria region during April 2014 to
September 2015 and Chair of SSSI NSW region 2016-17. Zaffar is a Member of the Council of
International Society of Digital Earth (ISDE). He passionately mentors young professionals
and new immigrants in the Spatial community.
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Franco Rea – Director

24/11/16 – 30/6/17
Franco Rea is a Director of Alexander Symonds and as a licensed surveyor has more than
27 years of experience in the Australian surveying industry. A past recipient of the
prestigious Sydney John Stokes Award for technical excellence and professionalism in
surveying and winner of the SA Spatial Professional of the year, Franco’s expertise covers
property, construction, engineering and 3D laser Scanning for both the private sector and
governments.
Major South Australian land developments he has worked on include Mawson Lakes,
Craigburn Farm, Westwood, Walkley Heights and Seaford Meadows, while he has also
served leading mining and petroleum companies in Australia and undertaken numerous
dimensional control surveys for clients around the world.

Richard Cullen– Director

24/11/16 – 30/6/17
A former Officer of the Royal Australian Navy (RAN) within the Maritime Geospatial
branch, specialising in nautical hydrographic surveying. Richard served for 24 years full
time and now continues to assist the RAN as a reserve officer. Some of Richard’s main
roles were to provide practice and advice on: hydrographic standards, planning for
National hydrographic survey, Electronic Navigation Chart review prior to release and
quality control of both RAN and third party hydrographic data. Richard also had the
opportunity to both re-develop the internationally accredited Category B Syllabus course
for Navy, instruct the Category B course and later became the Officer in Charge of the RAN
hydrographic school.
Having left full time Navy in 2014, he continues activities running his hydrographic survey
company Hydrographic & Cadastral Survey, which started in 2005. Conducting survey in
bathymetry, dredging, environmental, land, nautical, feature detection and lately involved
in World Bank projects to capacity build the hydrographic practice for an entire country.
Consultation and training of up and coming surveyors in more of the technical aspects of
nautical charting, boundaries, survey and mariner activities has become an increasing
activity. Richard has been involved with the Commission since 2005 and it is his continued
ambition, to provide for the growth of skilled hydrographic surveyors, generate awareness
of the profession to industry (big and small) and offer the wider geospatial community a
better understanding of the complexities of hydrographic surveying and how they can
integrate the multi-disciplinary outputs of hydrographic surveyors in their data projects.
Having been an Australian Hydrographic Surveyors Certification Panel (AHSCP) member
since 2007, the Panel and SSSI Committee have moved the profession forward in many
areas including recognition of certification both nationally and internationally and,
promotion of the profession overall.
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Rob Sarib – Director

24/11/16 – 30/6/17
Rob has been a Government professional surveyor for over 20 years and has managed
and performed surveys in a variety of projects in the disciplines of cadastral and geodetic
surveying; and land survey administration and infrastructure.
Rob has been an active member of the Surveyors Board of NT for 16 years, a member of
the ICSM Permanent Committee on Geodesy for 16 years and on the AuScope GNSS
Committee for 10 years. Rob has also been an active member of FIG since 2002 –
provision of professional and technical survey advice through Commission 5 – Positioning
and Measurement: and the Asia Pacific Capacity Development Network.
Rob was an active member of ISA from 1992 to its merger with SSI in 2003; he was a
foundation member of SSI and has been an active member of SSSI since its inception.

Lee Hellen – Director

24/11/16 – 30/6/17
Lee is a Registered Surveyor with Cadastral and Consulting Endorsement in
Queensland and Registered Licensed Surveyor in the Northern territory. Lee is the
owner and founder of Land Solution Australia Pty Limited, a private industry leader
is Surveying and Spatial science. An innovator and business leader, Lee has served
on numerous SSSI and SIBA boards and committees over the last 12 years. He has
received several individual and industry awards for excellence in Surveying and
Spatial Science for his work in this industry since 2007. Lee has formal qualifications
at a bachelor and post graduate certificate level in surveying and spatial science and
is a Graduate Member of the Australian Institute of company Directors (AICD).
A passionate advocate for surveying and spatial services within the wider
community, Lee was jointly responsible for devising the 3dQld strategy which is
leading the profession through evolution of Australian Cadastre to meet the needs
of a digital world. A future business leader and innovator for our industry, Lee has a
lasting appreciation of the history of the surveying and mapping profession and the
many exciting opportunities for the future of the profession.
Lee openly shares his ideas for success for the greater collective good of the
industry and community. Lee actively champions the industry across internal and
external industry sectors to bring greater awareness and understanding of the
surveying and mapping professions.
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Jim Curnow – Company Secretary 1/7/16 – 24/11/16

Jim Curnow is currently non-executive chairman of Alexander Symonds and former
Managing Director for over 25 years. His period with the company spans over 40 years
and has been involved in many urban developments, engineering surveying and
Geodetic projects throughout South Australia, interstate and several award winning
overseas projects for both the private and government sectors.
Jim holds a Bachelor of Surveying (Uni SA) and Graduate Diploma in Town Planning (Uni
SA) and is a licensed Surveyor. He has held various positions within surveying bodies
including the Surveyors Board of SA, President of the former ISA at both state and
national levels, an inaugural director of SSI, SSSI and ASIBA and is a SSSI Honorary
Fellow. His services to industry were recognized through the “Spatial Professional of
the Year” award in 2010 and the worthy recipient of the SSSI “Presidents Awards” in
2016.
He has also held Executive Committee positions of the Property Council of Australia,
South Australia Division and the Urban Development Institute of Australia, South
Australian Division and was a member of Action Agenda Steering Committee as part of
the Federal Governments Action Agenda Spatial Information Program in 2000. He is a
Life Member of UDIA SA.
Michael Stapleton – Director

24/11/16 – 30/6/17
Mike is a surveyor registered in New South Wales and the ACT. He was previously
registered as a land surveyor in South Africa prior to emigrating to Australia in
1988. He has a BSc(Surveying) from the University of Cape Town. Mike also has a
Master of Planning from the University of Technology, Sydney and is Registered as a
Planner with the Planning Institute of Australia. He completed a Management
Development Programme at the University of South Africa.
After graduation Mike was employed by Escom, the authority responsible for
Electricity Supply in South Africa, for 9 years. He emigrated to Australia in 1988 and
has been employed in the private sector in Sydney, Bowral and Canberra. He was also
employed by Baulkham Hills Shire Council for five years. He has been in Canberra
since 2000 and was employed by Fisher Stewart and Earthtech Engineering prior to
2006 when Landdata Surveys was founded. He was a partner and co-owner of this
business from 2006-2017 when the company was acquired by Veris Australia. He is
currently employed in Veris’s Canberra office as the Assistant Manager and is
responsible for projects in New South Wales.
Mike has been an active member of SSSI since its inception and prior to that an active
member of both SSI and Institution of Surveyors. He has served on respective
Canberra committees for most of his 17 years in Canberra.
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Membership
Overseas,
50
Northern Territory, 17

Western Australia, 292
Queensland, 512
New South
Wales, 342
South
Australia, 247
Australian Capital
Territory, 87

Victoria, 225
Tasmania, 81

303

63

152

Membership Figures as at the 17th May 2017

836

500
15

Membership

Member, 1351

Associate, 71
Affiliate, 24

Fellow, 84

Student, 224
1st Year Graduate, 23

Honorary Fellow, 36
Part Time Student, 25

2nd Year Graduate, 16

Total Membership
1854
Membership Figures as at the 30th of June 2016
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Queensland Regional Report
Roy Somerville, Chair
Introduction
This financial year commenced for us with a few challenges that included an office
relocation in December, significant staff changes and the engagement of members in the
various commissions and committees.
The Queensland Regional Committee has been very active and wish to formally thank
those members that have lead us over the last 12 months, namely:

Chris Swane (Deputy QRC Chair), Peter Swan (Treasurer), Ewen Sneddon (Land Surveying Commission Chair), Paul Reed
(Education & Training Committee Chair), Stephen Jess, Dale Atkinson (Northern Group Chair), Ken Lyons, Sudarshan Karki,
Mark Hickey, Angus Scown (Spatial Information & Cartography Commission Chair), Marshall D’Souza (Young Professional
Representative), Lee Hellen (SSSI Director; QLD CPD Chair), Owen Cantrill (Hydrography Commission Rep), Peter Kinne,
Hans Moller (Engineering & Mining Surveying Commission Chair) and Ray Tabulo (Central Group Chair).
Thank you all for your fantastic contributions.
Highlights and Achievements
The conference at Southport in May 2017, where over 200 attendees participated in a two-day conference that focused on
the normal business activities of our members, providing them with an enhancement of knowledge, process, equipment,
software, and techniques. The events were guided by a deliberate constraint of relevance to the everyday activities of the
participants. The best indicator of success was demonstrated by the fact that over 90% of attendees were there at the
close. Thanks must be given to Ewen Sneddon, Chris Swane, Lee Hellen and Peter Swan whose superhuman efforts made
this conference a huge success.
Membership
At the start of this financial year, our QRC was very concerned at the declining membership numbers. Ken Lyons provided
an analysis of past trends and issues and predicted a sad future if change did not occur. In January 2017, a planning forum
was held, and a new direction was adopted.
The new plan adopted the following:
Vision:
To create a globally recognized surveying and spatial sciences community that leads, promotes, advocates, and
delivers excellence.
Mission:
To develop association and learning networks for individuals to progress their professional careers and promote
surveying and spatial sciences in Australia and abroad.
The major strategies:
 Encourage and support cooperation through highly effective communication
 Promote leadership, succession, participation, and identity across all member commissions
 Advance education, skills, and knowledge for its members
 Deliver recognised and valued certification to members
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The implementation of these initiatives has been recognised as the foundation of the membership growth of
approximately 10% over the last 10 months. Respect of members, recognition of contributors, research and presentation
of appropriate education material seems to be the foundation in regeneration of SSSI Qld.
SSSI Qld Staff
The loss of Kellie Davidson was a disappointing event as she held us together, particularly over the last two years. The
unseen benefit was our stealing Kelly Rischmiller from NSW. Kelly was the SSSI NSW Regional Operations Manager for
over 4 years so her experience has been a great asset.
We also had a short but great contribution by Suzy Langford as Administration & Events Officer. Katie Le Miere took over
from Suzy recently without missing a beat.
Our staff are the essential key that underpinned the success SSSI Qld has achieved this year. They are a pleasure to work
with, providing loyal and dedicated professionalism in every task they have undertaken. Thank you, Kelly and Katie.

What is ahead in 2017/18
We have a great group of active members in SSSI Qld who have demonstrated commitment, vision and mutual respect
for our members, professions and community responsibilities. Our plans for next year are more of the same activities,
only better.
Immediate priorities:
Focus is on membership renewals and assisting past members to re-join SSSI.
Reviewing our Partners and Sponsorships to ensure that they provide value for their investment.
Creating a 3 year plan for SSSI Qld which includes:
 events (Conference, seminars, webinar and networking);
 better communication to our members on our advocacy and what SSSI Qld is doing on your behalf;
 further developing our mentoring program to attract more young professionals/students to our membership;
 and working closely with SIBA on inniatives that effect us all.
Conclusion
To conclude this years' report, please convey our sincere thanks for the many hours of hard work contributed by our SSSI
staff and regional volunteers. A huge amount of work goes on behind the scenes to conduct the program of events and
provide the services to our members. To all those involved, thank you for your continued support and dedication to our
industry.
I must acknowledge the great support received from our sustaining partners - Cairns Regional Council, the University of
Queensland, DigitalGlobe, UPG, Queensland Department of Transport and Main Roads and the University of the Sunshine
Coast and our regular sponsors of our events, C.R. Kennedy, Qld Survey Pegs, UrbisPro, Listech and Position Partners.
Your contributions are greatly appreciated and without your assistance, many of the great outcomes we seek for
members would not be possible.
Finally, thank you to our members for your continued support through the last few years. You have been exemplary, and
I applaud you for staying with us. The future with SSSI Qld is looking exciting.
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NSW Regional Report
Zaffar Mohamed-Ghouse, Chair
This past financial year has seen significant change for the SSSI NSW region, from the
handing over of the role of NSW Chair from Gaby Van Wyk to myself- through to the
departure of our long-serving Regional Operations Manager, Ms Kelly Rischmiller to take
up the QLD Regional Operations Managers role. Leadership changes of course have
practical implications, but they also change the way we view our environment and the
ways in which we work to respond to it. It also changes like this that give us an opportunity to re-assess where we are
and where we want and need to be. This re-assessment has very much framed the last year for SSSI NSW.
There have been many regional highlights this year, from the great success of the joint SSSI ACT-NSW Annual Regional
Conference held in Canberra, November 2016, through to the local hosting of Locate 17 in April 2017. I would personally
like to thank each one of the volunteers and SSSI members in NSW and other regions in making Locate 17 a great
success. We have also worked to deliver multiple remote learning opportunities via our webinars platform, which has
proved hugely popular- particularly with our student and YP members. However the biggest work has been happening
behind the scenes.
Following on from a successful face-to-face regional committee meeting in March 2017, the NSW committee has worked
hard to develop and implement a regional communications strategy. This strategy is the first step in enhancing how we
communicate with our regional members and the platform upon which we will deliver valuable learning and
development opportunities. The second phase of this process has been to build an entirely new events calendar for
2018. This calendar and the events contained therein have been specifically designed to address feedback and requests
from our members; the content has been developed with a strong focus on creating extensive networking and face-toface learning opportunities. The other key focus of this new events calendar is to better engage our regional industry
counterparts and organisations, and to strengthen key partnerships. In short it is a new, solid foundation from which we
intend to actively grow and build in the 2018 calendar year.
This year has been challenging in many ways for our region, but it has also been a great year. I am confident that the
time we have taken to address our delivery methods this year, and to establish a strong delivery framework that better
reflects the professional and learning needs of our members and associates, will serve to make the 2018 calendar year
our region’s best yet. I have been religiously attending ISNSW Board meetings as a SSSI representative bimonthly. This
attendance to the meetings has strengthened the bond between SSSI NSW and ISNSW. Similarly, joint meetings with
other cooperating associations SIBA NSW and ACS NSW have proved to be fruitful in developing strategic partnerships.
SSSI NSW has been actively engaged with BOSSI, SMIC and Location Leadership Intelligence Advisory Committee of NSW
Government.
I would like to thank our past and current regional operations managers- Ms Kelly Rischmiller and Ms Katya Zahn, for
their hard work this year- and the many times they have extended themselves to assist in developing content, and
supporting key events. I would also like to thank our regional committee, volunteers and members for their continued
support to the growth of NSW region.
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WA Regional Report
Kerry Smtyth, Chair
Introduction
Last year I reported on an outlook of success, change and uncertainty, following a year of
stability and consolidation. In contrast this year has been characterized by contraction,
determination and achievement.

Contraction in membership renewals, committee representation and sustaining partners reflects a national trend;
compounded by budget reductions and staff changes. Nevertheless in WA there has been a strong determination by staff
and volunteers to deliver prioritized services that are focused, valued and viable. We have faced with resolve, the ongoing
economic downturn, competitive factional groups and stakeholder complacency. Achievement was again demonstrated by
the annual state conference and seasonal seminars, receiving popular acclaim and financial return. Importantly, we have
persisted with our collaboration and outreach programs.
Recognition is due to members of the Western Australian Regional Management Committee (WA-RMC), staff and the many
SSSI members who have willingly contributed their time, energy and expertise; in particular our Sustaining Partners
committed to supporting the region’s activities for the benefit of the surveying and spatial science community in Western
Australia.
Highlights and Achievements
A highly successful State conference Driving Future Economies was held in October at the UWA Club, thanks to members of
the Joint Steering Committee who ensured SSSIWA members were provided with a stimulating and informative program
which was a sequel to previous year’s theme Position for Today.
The 2016 WA Spatial Excellence Awards (WASEA) were presented in November at a Gala Dinner, in conjunction with industry
partner SIBA. I would like to acknowledge the achievement of all WASEA nominees and congratulations to 2016 Individual
Award winners:
 SSSIWA Professional of the Year Award: Damian Shepherd
 SSSIWA Education Development Award: Bryan Boruff
 SSSIWA Undergraduate Student Award: Todd Lyons
 SSSIWA Postgraduate Student Award: Viet Nguyen
The Spatial Excellence Awards demonstrated the strength of the industry in WA and the merit of our people. SSSIWA student
member Todd Lyons (Curtin Uni) received national accolades winning the Undergraduate Student Award, at the APSEA
presentations at Locate17 in Sydney in April 2017.
Advocacy submissions included:
 Dept Planning - Perth & Peel@3.5million and Central Sub-regional Planning Framework deputation.
 Landgate - Review of Land Information Authority Act 2006 stakeholder interview.
 Curtin Spatial Science Advisory Board – multiple submissions for support of new and retention of existing courses.
 Mine Surveyors Licensing Board – joint submission.
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Major Events
There was a full calendar of SSSIWA events proposed for 2016-17, ranging from site visits to seminars, interest group
meetings to masterclass events, social gatherings and networking functions – all of which are made possible by the voluntary
contribution of WA RMC members and Commission representatives. The SSSIWA Committee met bi-monthly and engaged in
robust debate over particularly challenging agendas. Due to challenging circumstance there was a contraction in local
commission meetings and priority directed towards viable events.
The Spatial Information & Cartography and Remote Sensing & Photogrammetry Commissions continued to collaborate
closely on Going Places seminar series, Curtin Uni Colloquium, and the topical Putting Urban Forest on the Map seminar.
The SSSIWA Land Surveying Commission hosted monthly Cadastral Interest Group member meetings and CPD seminars in
2016-17, while the WA Engineering & Mining Surveying Commission held bi-monthly Interest Group meetings and a technical
seminar program - including collaboration with the Australian Institute of Mine Surveyors. Events were less well attended
than in the past due to duplication by competitive groups.
The Hyrdography Commission had a quiet year due to extended off-shore assignments by our local representatives.
Other successful events included Golf and Lawn Bowls Challenges, and the annual Fellows’ Dinner.
What to look forward to 2017/2018
Although WA membership numbers dropped significantly with less than 60% of members renewing (based on July 2015 to
June 2017 figures), we will continue with determination to progress our strategic priorities and actions to:
1. increase the capacity and quality of continuing professional development to industry,
2. strengthen stakeholder engagement within and across allied industry sectors, and
3. build our advocacy profile.
SSSIWA has embarked on a number of new initiatives as a direct result, and continues to monitor their implementation and
benefits to members. We will:
 Establishment of a panel of subject matter experts from the membership to lead technical advocacy; and to engage with
policy decision-making processes that will achieve positive policy outcomes, for SSSI members and the wider community.
 Continue to re-build our education contribution through HackEd and collaboration with the teaching associations.
 Seek opportunities for greater community engagement through active participation with industry partners in events and
project that will build our profile and extend our reach, including within the science and education community.
 Ensure a continuing program of professional development events is delivering technical and social benefits to members,
with “Masterclass” workshops, technical seminars, interest group meetings and networking functions will be hosted by
SSSIWA on a regular monthly basis.
 Build on the success of our 2016-17 Event Scorecard which proudly delivered:
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EVENTS
WASSS Conference
WASEA Dinner
Master classes, Workshops, Colloquia
Quarterly Seminars (incl Going Places)
Regional WA Seminars
Commission Conversations & Group meetings
Technical Tours
Region Management Committee
Alliances & Collaborative
Social & Network functions

2017-18
1
1
2
6
2
12
0
6 plus 2 special
4
3

2016-17
1
1
3
9
1
19
2
6 plus 3 special
6
4

As this is my fourth and final year as WA Chair, so you can look forward to the energy and leadership of a new incoming chair.
Conclusion
In conclusion, I wish to sincerely thank 2016-17 Regional Sustaining Partners Landgate and WALIS, whose contribution
throughout the year has continued to support our capacity to deliver WA based events and strategic initiatives. I would also
like to acknowledge and thank Curtin University, the University of Western Australia and North Metro TAFE for supporting
SSSIWA in many of our initiatives, not least by introducing the next generation of surveyors and spatial scientists to their
professional membership association.
Finally, on behalf of the WA Regional Management Committee, I extend thanks to all SSSIWA members who continue to
engage, support and participate in a full range of activities, and give us frank and fearless feedback on ways to improve and
develop. We welcome and sincerely value your input. We also acknowledge the considerable contribution of WA Region
staff Kerryn Stanes, Gail Walker and John Ambrose.
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South Australia Regional Report
Franco Reo, Chair
Introduction
For SSSI in South Australia, 2016-17 was a year of satisfying consolidation and exciting development of
our local activities.
The SSSI SA Committee members once again gave of their time and expertise to provide our regional
members with a broad spectrum of valuable events and functions to attend, while advocating on behalf
of our industry at both state and national level. We looked for new ways to engage with our regional Sustaining Partners, offering
mutual benefit and building on key relationships. In the second half of the year, we welcomed a new Regional Operations Manager in
South Australia, Imogen Craig, which gave us the opportunity to concentrate on delivering a consistently high-quality service to
members.

Highlights and Achievements
The SSSI SA Legislative Review Committee (LRC) has maintained a strong focus on the implementation of the Planning Development
and Infrastructure (PDI) Act. The transition to the new legislation is being implemented in stages as parts of the old system are turned
off and the new system is turned on. The LRC are monitoring these changes and actively contributing where necessary. Some of the
key areas that the LRC has focused on include:
•
•
•

Appointment of a SSSI representative on the Development Industry Advisory Committee which reports directly to the Minister in reg
to the new planning system.
Research and consultation on options for establishing an accreditation system for Licensed Surveyors to be considered as Accredited
Professionals under the PDI Act.
Consultation with SSSI members on issues and experiences with regard to the planning system when dealing with Community Title
Developments.

SSSI were invited to participate in the Stakeholder reference group for the Land Titles Office (LTO) privatisation. Through the
reference group, we were able to provide valuable feedback to the government regarding the content of the contract, on issues that
affect SSSI members. SSSI will be part of an ongoing Stakeholder reference group, to provide feedback to the private operator.
We were delighted to congratulate Professor Megan Lewis, the winner of the 2016 South Australian Spatial Excellence Award for
Education Development, on receiving the national APSEA award for Education Development in 2016. Following on from that
achievement, SSSI SA was pleased to learn that our regional APSEA award for Women in Spatial will, in 2017-18, be extended to a
national APSEA award recognising the significant and ongoing contribution of women to our profession.
Our South Australian Young Professionals continue to be active and engaged in supporting the growth and development of the next
generation of spatial professionals in SA. In 2016-17, our SSSI SA YP Committee held a total of 9 events aimed at providing networking
and professional development opportunities to the student, graduate and young professional community in SA.

Major Events
Spatial Information Day continues to be the highlight of South Australian SSSI calendar and 2016 saw the 16th iteration of this event,
as well as the Asia-Pacific Spatial Excellence Awards of South Australia Dinner. SID is South Australia's premier conference for the
geospatial and surveying industry. In 2016, over 400 conference delegates came together to learn the latest applications, theories
and techniques being applied in surveying, remote sensing and geographic information systems (GIS). SSSI SA must once again
acknowledge the significant contribution of our SID Organising Committee and our conference sponsors, in the planning and delivery
of this flagship event.
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In 2016-17, the SSSI Land Surveying Commission, in conjunction with the Surveyors Board for South Australia, held two very
successful cadastral workshops, with over 125 cadastral and graduate surveyors in attendance at each event. SSSI SA organised 3
‘State of Play’ events in 2016-17, aimed at sharing location based information, across government, with our service partners, and
with the community, to drive resource efficiency, collaboration and innovation. These events were highly successful, receiving a
fantastic response from the state and local government community. In celebration of International GIS Day 2016, SSSI SA held an
evening of fascinating talks exploring some of the lesser known areas where GIS is utilised. Attendees enjoyed presentations on
issues such as ‘The Automation of Catastrophe Insurance Risk Management’ and ‘Keeping up or falling behind? The top 10 trends in
the world of GIS’.

2016-17 Major Events
State of Play State Government, July 2016
State of Play Local Government, September 2016
International GIS Day, November 2017
Cadastral Workshop, April 2017
Sustaining Partner Roadshow, June 2017

Spatial Information Day 2016, August 2016
Cadastral Workshop, November 2016
State of Play: GIS, February 2017
YP Surveying Technology Roadshow, May 2017

South Australian Asia Pacific Spatial Excellence Awards winners 2016
SASEA Individual Award Winners

SASEA Industry Award Winners

Spatial Professional of the Year

David Floreani

Technical Excellence

Fugro

Young Professional of the Year

George Sioutis

Environment and
Sustainability

Aerometrex

Women in Spatial

Penny Baldock

People & Community

Educational Development

Megan Lewis

Department of Community
and Social Inclusion

Undergraduate/Graduate Student

Alicia Caruso

Spatial Enablement

Aerometrex

Post Graduate Research

Saad Alsharrah

JB & JW Calder Award

Noel Gehren

Innovation &
Commercialisation

Department of Planning,
Transport and
Infrastructure

What to look forward to 2017/18
In 2017-18 SSSI SA is excited to welcome the Locate conference to Adelaide. We look forward to working with Locate to host an
inspiring and innovative conference, building on the success of Spatial Information Day and expanding our vision to incorporate more
national and international focus.
We will continue our focus on delivering great opportunities and services to our regional members, as well as a strong, unified voice
for our industry in South Australia.

Conclusion and Thank You
I personally would like to thank the SSSI South Australian Regional Committee, the Young Professionals Committee and the Spatial
Information Day 2016 Organising Committee for their outstanding contribution and their commitment and passion in bringing events
together and giving our members an opportunity to learn and be connected.
Finally, I take this opportunity to thank our regional Sustaining Partners: Alexander Symonds, Ultimate Positioning Group, TAFE SA,
The University of Adelaide, University of South Australia and Flinders University.
Without these Partners, SSSI South Australia would be unable to provide many of the events, opportunities and support that are so
valuable to our members and our community.

24

Regional Reports
Victoria Regional Report
Thierry Demathieu, Chair
Introduction
The Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute Victorian region has seen 10 inspiring Regional
Chairs taking the lead of the state since its incorporation as SSI back in 2003. The region has a
strong national representation in the Land Surveying and Young Professional Commissions
with Fellow member Lindsay Perry LS and Richard Syme. Our Regional Operation Manager, Barbara Best celebrated
supporting 4 regional chairs in Victoria with multiple tasks that needed to be done well. I am pleased to work with them
and the rest of the committee including the foundation regional chair of SSI, Associate Professor Chris Bellman.
Highlights and Achievements
The Victorian Region saw a strong 2016-2017 financial year result. Events were well attended with controlled costs led to
a surplus exceeding budget expectation. With the leadership of the Land Surveying Commission, we organised 3 twilight
seminars, a regional conference called the Summit, the Victorian Spatial Excellence Award night with SIBA, commissions
events in particular Young Professionals site visits and seminars and other ad-hoc events. In Victoria, the professional
development of the members through the SSSI CPD program is critical for the growth of the industry. For Cadastral
Licensed Surveyors in Victoria, CPD points are called FPET points (Further Professional Education and Training) by the
Surveyors Registration Board of Victoria. The SSSI members require 15 CPD points for the financial year while the Licensed
Surveyors need 15 FPET points for the calendar year. Our main events provided 22 CPD/FPET points (Summit 7, 3 Twilight
7.5, SSSI/ISV 3.5, Half Day 4). The Victorian Region saw the announcement of the retirement of the 25th Victorian
Surveyors General John E Tulloch LS effective 31 May 2017. John took over from Keith Bell in 2003. He leaves a strong
legacy and the region is looking forward to the nomination of the next Surveyors General.
Major Events
The SSSI Victorian Region has a strong partnership with RMIT University. The Land Surveying Commission Chair Fellow
Member Lindsay Perry LS is the chair of the Program Advisory Committee in Vocational Education and led 2 proceedings a
year. SSSI supported the award for the best Vocational Education Student that went to Student member James De Rose.
Frazer Wilson Victorian Young Professional Chair presented the framed award certificate at the RMIT University
Geospatial Sciences Student Association award dinner. August saw a Young Professional webinar that was broadcast live
at RMIT at lunch time on Tuesday when all Vocational Education Students are on campus. On August 5, our all day Spatial
Summit was named “From Tradition to Innovation”. Our previous Regional Chair visited RMIT to give student membership
certificates.
In November, March and April, we had our twilight seminars. In February, the Joint ISV/SSSI seminar was quite successful.
Finally, the SSSI committee member Jeff Clarke LS has been leading a Professional Training Agreement initiative in line of
one of the 5 goals of the Surveying Taskforce Inc. of increasing the number of Licensed Surveyors.
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What to look forward to 2017/2018
With the leadership of the National Land Surveying Commission chair, we have planned a full year of twilights, half day and
full day of professional development events. The appointment of the new Surveyors General will give the committee an
opportunity to position the SSSI in the Victorian professional body landscape in a fresh way. The Land Surveying
Commission will continue the work on the Land Surveying Commission certification with hope that the certification will be
ready to be implemented and ratified by the Board. We will be looking at our membership list to see how we should tailor
professional development events with the aim to engage them in all parts of the Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute.
The new website design will help engage with potential members in Australia and overseas. A lot of work will need to
happen. Closer collaboration with SIBA, CSV and ISV with events will lead to better attendance at events.
The region will try an hour workshops where SSSI members can bring work related issues and get the committee to resolve
them. This should identify knowledge gaps of members and will give ideas for further professional development events.
Conclusion
Overall, the year was successful. The region provided a surplus that exceeded budget expectations. I would like to thank
the regional committee in particular, Fellow Member Lindsay Perry LS that works hard to find Professional Development
events on current issues, Jeff Clarke LS for leading a cross industry and professional bodies initiative on professional
development for young surveyors training for their cadastral registration and Associate Professor Chris Bellman for his
contribution as the Remote Sensing and Photogrammetry regional chair. Chris has been the foundation VIC regional chair
of SSI and foundation RMIT member on the Surveying Taskforce Inc. And we couldn’t do all of this without the support of
the chairman of the Board and president, the Board, the staff at the head office in particular Julie, Betty and Arif and our
Victorian Regional Operation Manager, Barbara. Her local presence makes the work of the volunteers at committee more
manageable. Our industry is changing rapidly and we need to keep learning and improve so we don’t become outdated.
The SSSI has a critical role to play. Let’s keep working on a strong peak national professional body, the Surveying and
Spatial Sciences Institute.
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ACT Regional Report
Greg Ledwidge, Chair
Introduction
The year 2016-2017 was a difficult year in the ACT Region. While there were some standout
successes such as the joint ACT-NSW Conference in November 2016, progress on the Mouat
Tree project and the running of a number of twilight events the region, like other regions we
have struggled to engage members and those on the fringe of the organisation.
Early 2017 saw the appointment of a joint ACT-NSW Regional Operations Manager. After 2 years of volunteer members
trying to do everything it was great relief to have Katya Zahn appointed. It made a big difference in getting things done
Highlights
Undoubtedly the highlight of the year was the joint ACT-NSW conference. After an initial approach by then NSW Chair
Gaby Van Wyk in April 2016 a joint conference committee was established and began to get the task of getting the
conference organisation underway. A decision was made hold the first joint conference in Canberra. It was a very
collaborative team effort and the conference was a success in many ways. From my perspective it was great to engage
with a number of people from NSW local government. Likewise the conference and awards dinner was a success with
good attendance. Congratulations again to all the SSSI Individual Award Winners.
In the background the Mouat Tree project continued to tick away. A complex Development Approval process was
navigated, albeit slowly; By the end of the financial year we had detailed design/tender drawings and had appointed a
contractor. While the business end of the project took place in 2017-2018, I will cover some of the story here. There were
more bureaucratic hurdles to get over such that by the middle of September ground was being turned and earthworks
underway. As I write this, the opening of the Mouat Tree Shelter will take place in less than 24 hours. A 3.5 year project
from conception to completion will still take less time than the original border survey of about 5 years. Phew!!
A huge thank you to all the contributors to the project including the overwhelming financial and in kind support from the
ACT Government and its agencies including ACT Heritage, ACT Parks and Conservation, ACT Office of the SurveyorGeneral and the Canberra Museum and Gallery. A special thanks to ISNSW for their generous contribution to the project.
Finally I would like to thank local historian Matthew Higgins and heritage architect Philip Leeson for their tireless work on
the project and the many small contributors that made the project a success.
What to look forward to in 2017-2018
Of course the opening of the Moat Tree Shelter project is a big one. While it is a heritage project, it connects our industry
with the general public in ways I had not foreseen. People want to know about surveying and I have been surprised how
much enthusiastic support from local people there has been.
Education is about to change as the SSSI National Education and Career Development committee and Let’s Locate break
new ground in engaging school students. One of the first teacher training days was held in August 2017. Run jointly by
SSSI and ESRI it gave teachers a taste of what the geospatial industry is all about. Many other similar events have been
run by ESRI as part of their National Rollout of ArcGIS to all Australian schools. It has been a huge commitment to
geospatial education in Australia by ESRI Inc. and I applaud them for it.
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I hope we can organise some new and different learning opportunities for members in 2018. It is anticipated these
opportunities will engage those in all parts of our industry, education and the general public.
Conclusion
The local regional committee has struggled to find new blood to get involved. Aside from some passing interest, a
dwindling number of stalwarts continue to make things happen. The current situation cannot go on for long. I encourage
you to consider a role locally to advance our professions and develop other skills that will help in your own career.
At this stage I would like to thank Mike Stapleton for his continued efforts on the Local Committee and organising CPD
events. His contribution has been invaluable. Finally I would like to also thank our local Sustaining Partners, the ACT
Emergency Services Agency and the ACT Office of the Surveyor-General for their continued support of the SSSI in the ACT
region.
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Tasmania Regional Report
Alex Leith, Chair
Introduction
This is an election year in Tasmania, and so it’s my last year as Chair. I’ve enjoyed my three years
(and four annual reports) in the role a lot, it’s been a privilege to work with great people and to
be able to represent SSSI members here in Tasmania. I’m pleased to leave the SSSI Tasmania Region in a good place, with
great sustaining partner relationships and support and a history of reliable, quality events.
Committee
The Tasmanian Regional Committee for the last year included myself, Alex Leith, as the Chair. Paul Digney as Vice-Chair
and Engineering and Mining Surveying Commission representative. Scott Strong as Treasurer. Robert Driessen as the
Spatial Information and Cartography Commission and TASSIC representative. Steven Flude as Land Surveying Commission
Representative. Dylan Colson as Hydrography Commission representative. And Michael Giudici as general committee
member.
The Tasmanian Regional Committee represents around 90 members, and we maintain a mailing list of an additional 170
individuals.
Events
We run two major events in Tasmania each year: the State of GIS and the Tasmanian Surveying and Spatial Conference.
The State of GIS was held at the RACV venue in the center of Hobart this year, and attracted 120 delegates, which is a
record. This venue was excellent, and will be a likely choice for next year and presentations received positive feedback,
which means we’re on the right track with this event. The conference was held at Josef Chromy Winery, and,
coincidentally, also had a record 120 delegates in attendance. The day included some great presentations from around
Australia, and feedback was very positive. The format of these two events is settling down into something that we can
reliably organise without too much stress and hassle, and together they constitute a nexus for professional networking in
Tasmania.
We held several smaller events, including Christmas functions in the north and south of the state. The northern Chrismas
event was held jointly with PIA and AIA, as has been the tradition for a couple of years. The southern event was held as a
‘soapbox’, where the floor was opened to attendees to voice their views. This soapbox event was very successful, and we
had a diversity of views and lively discussion. And we continue to meet with the students from the UTAS Surveying Society
each semester, including sponsoring their BBQ.
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Sustaining Partners
I’d like to take this opportunity to recognise our sustaining partners, listed here:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

Ultimate Positioning, Regional Silver partners
Jacobs, Regional Silver partners
Land Tasmania, Regional Silver partners
City of Hobart, Regional Silver partners
Geometry, Regional Silver partners
City of Launceston, Regional Bronze partners
Bream Creek Vineyard, Regional Winery partners.

It’s great to see that these partners have all renewed for the next financial year, too.
Looking to the Future
Is being consistent enough? Here in Tasmania, we have been consistent in delivering the professional networking and
development events that bring our community together, and I think we do it well. These are a known quantity, and don’t
need to change dramatically. Their consistency is their quality. But regardless of consistently delivering events that are
well received, we lose members each year. It’s only a few, but they matter, because they’re not being replaced.
And so, what does the future of SSSI in Tasmania look like? As our membership numbers slowly decline, do we keep
running events, but for non- and ex-members instead of for members? If so, we’ll need to charge higher fees, or run
more events in order to generate the missing membership income. Another opportunity that was suggested to me
recently is to push more into delivering training and other education services, as other membership organisations like
CPA do. Or is there a way to win back our members rather than replacing the missing income? If there is I don’t know
what it is. I’m no salesman, and I’d like to think that a professional membership organisation doesn’t need one. I hope
that our actions can be the marketing that we need, for example, we run our events and people come. People see what
we’re doing in organising these events and want to support it with their hard earned dollars. The same goes for
advocacy, we represent the community and the community wants to support the organisation because of that. I
personally feel that being a member demonstrates a commitment to the community
In the end, perhaps consistency is enough. The SSSI Tas Regional Committee isn’t going anywhere, and will consistently
deliver the events that people come to, and will advocate for our members and the broader community, at least until
something changes. And if it’s not, then something else will come along.
Conclusion
I’d like to thank all the people who I’ve volunteered with the last six or so years, including especially the committee of the
last four years. I’ve learnt a lot about the institute, about working with people, and I’ve had a lot of fun doing it.
I’d also like to thank SSSI Members in Tasmania, for their support of SSSI and for giving me the privilege of representing
them. It’s been an honour, and I hope that I’ve been able to keep up with the high bar set by my predecessors, Penny
Douglas and Darren Llewellyn (and those before them).
Thanks for having me, and I’ll see you at future SSSI events.
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Northern Territory Regional Report
Rob Sarib, Chair

The year 2016-17 began in October with our sponsorship of 6 students from the schools Marrara Catholic College, St
Joseph's Catholic College, Katherine, Kormilda College, Dripstone Middle School and Gunbalanya School West Arnhem to
attend the Charles Darwin University Conoco Phillips Science Experience. The main purpose of this event is to provide
100 students the opportunity of a 3 day science experience and to also empower them towards higher achievement and
learning. Unfortunately in the NT we do not have a surveying or spatial science pathway at the university level however
it is this type of engagement that will hopefully ignite some interest for the future.
Similarly we sponsored 5 students (young ladies) to participate in the She Flies Drones Camps in July 2017. The aim of
this experience is to get the students interested in Science Technology Engineering Mathematics (STEM) activities in
school. Special thanks to Renee Bartolo and Amy Peterson for their "drone mentoring" time with keen and interested
students.
The SSSI NT also participated in our annual Goyder's Day celebration which was held at our survey and mapping museum
- Roadmasters House, 5 February 2017. The event was held on typical “wet season” day; however there were still 30 plus
guests in attendance. There were informative presentations by Mr. Trevor Horman (National Trust President), Ms Sarah
Hirst (President of the Top End Native Plants Society) and Mr. Trevor Menzies (past Surveyor-General of the NT). This
event also coincided with the commemoration of the 75th anniversary of the Bombing of Darwin as there were NT WWII
maps, survey instruments and photos on display. We express our thanks to Mr. Menzies for his efforts to administer and
operate our museum since its official opening to the public in August 2016. SSSI NT would also like to thank local survey
firm Earl James and Associates for their support and sponsorship of the museum, and co-partner NT Division of the
Mapping Sciences Institute, Australia (MSIA).
The main technical seminar that was held in Darwin was the World Hydrography Day in June 2017. This theme for the
seminar was ‘Mapping our seas and oceans - more important than ever’ and it attracted 15 presentations and 40
participants. There were some good discussions on the importance of hydrography, measurement techniques traditional
and new, technical and administrative issues relating to the intertidal zone, capacity building, and the challenges
associated with heighting and vertical reference surfaces. More information about the seminar can be found at website.
Special thanks to John Maschke for organising this event.
Looking to the future, it was very pleasing news to hear that the ASEAN Federation of Land Surveying and Geomatics
(ASEAN FLAG) has selected Darwin to host the 2019 South East Asian Survey Congress. Arrangements to formalise the
event agreements are underway, however we would like ALL surveyors, spatial scientists and industry enthusiasts to set
aside the 15-18 August 2019 so that they can attend this event. More event information will be released in the New
Year, along with expressions for interests, participation, and ideas for this regional conference.
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Remote Sensing and Photogrammetry Commission Report
Craig Smith, Chair
Introduction
The publication of the Quarterly RS&P eNewsletter continued throughout the year. The editor
and producer of the eNewsletter, Karen Cambrell is responsible for the high standard and
timeliness of this publication.

Highlights and Achievements (Including major research) (200 Words)
Members of the SSSI RS&P Commission made contributions to the new Australian Earth Observation (EO) Series,
entitled Earth Observation: Data, Processing, and Applications. Volume One of the EO Series was launched at the CRC
for Spatial Information Annual Conference in Sydney on 26 October 2016. These freely-available, online publications
are sponsored by CRCSI, CSIRO, GA, and BNHCRC to promote, demonstrate, and explain the use of EO in Australia and
include a wide range of local case studies.
Volume 1: Data outlines the basics of EO in terms of energy sources, data acquisition, sampling characteristics, and
image availability. Discussion focuses on the scientific foundations of EO. This volume also considers the interactions
of electromagnetic radiation with various targets and media, as relevant to understanding optical, thermal, passive
microwave and radar imagery. Volume 1 comprises three sub volumes:




1A: Data—Basics and Acquisition—available from: http://www.crcsi.com.au/earthobservation-series/
1B: Data—Image Interpretation—to be released early in 2017
1X: Appendices—can be downloaded with Volume 1A from: http://www.crcsi.com.au/earth-observation-series/

Major Events
The RS&P Commission was represented at several major events during the year.
ISPRS Congress, Prague, Czech Republic, 12-19 July 2016.
The Congress was a great success with approximately 2,300 people attending from 88 countries. A full day was
programmed on space programs for earth observation and another day for the national mapping agencies. The up to
nine parallel technical sessions were held from 08.30 to 18.00. As well, interactive sessions operated during the
afternoon from 15.00 to 16.30. There were multiple sessions on such topics as UAVs, image classification, remote
sensing data fusion, change detection and many others.
The General Assembly, where decisions were made on ISPRS activities for the next four years, was held all day Tuesday
and afternoons on Wednesday 13/7, Saturday16/7 and Monday 18/7. John Trinder was the Australian delegate at the
General Assembly.
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Detecting landscape change with drones
During September 2016, over 30 people from universities and government departments across Australia gathered at the
University of New South Wales’ (UNSW) Fowlers Gap Research Station to conduct Australia’s first—and one of few in the
world—integrated UAV, aircraft and ground field campaign.
The collaboration of ecologists, land managers and remote sensing scientists using state-of-the-art sensor technology and
ground-survey techniques demonstrated how focused effort can significantly advance our studies of complex natural and
management systems.
“The level of interest and collaboration between the participating scientists and practitioners was more than we could
have hoped for when we developed the concept behind the event,” stated Richard Lucas (UNSW). “A greater
understanding of the capability of UAV sensors, the requirements for ground data collection, and the needs of field
scientists was obtained as a consequence”.
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Engineering and Mining Surveying Commission Report
Andrew Edwards, Chair

In the past year the Engineering and Mining Surveying Commission voted on its biennial elections as per the
requirements of the SSSI constitution. These elections were run with the following results, and commission
representatives:









Queensland Representatives – no representatives
New South Wales Representatives – Dave Richey and Dave Mares
Australian Capital Territory – no representatives
Victoria – no representatives
Tasmania – Paul Digney and Andrew Edwards
South Australia – no representatives
Western Australian Representatives – no representatives
Northern Territory – no representatives

This year has bought change to the E&MSC, as Bernard O'Sullivan has decided to step down from the Chair Commission
after serving a devoted 7 years to the SSSI. His passion for the industry and accreditation process for which he has been
heavily involved with won’t go unrecognized throughout the industry.
I have been elected as the Acting Chair I also serve on the professional standards committee and seeks to continue
Bernard's passion to be heavily involved with the accreditation process to try to make this profession grow in a
sustainable manner, I look forward to the challenges that will arise in the next coming years.
In 2018 our Commission is planning to run engineering and mining CPD events in all Regions and Andrew will be hoping
to have heavy involvement in workshops or presentations at the various regional conference events to further promote
the ESP-AP certification. We will also be investing funds in the promotion of the ESP-AP Certification program. We will be
seeking further endorsements of the ESP-AP Certification from other State and Territory Surveyor Boards.
Western Australia has continued to have regular Engineering Surveying Interest Group meetings with great attendance.
These meetings are a perfect place to start an involvement that can make a difference which is also very much
appreciated.
We want to thank those who have volunteered and ask that anyone who feels they can offer something, especially in the
vacant regions to contact chair.emsc@sssi.org.au as every bit counts. In 2017/18, I will be actively seeking more
volunteers to join this committee.
The current Panel consists of Dave Richie (NSW), Ray Watson (WA), Darryl Gowlett (QLD) and Tony Clarey (QLD). In
2016/17 there were 11 new applicants who achieve ESP-AP Certification.
Thank you for a great year and we look forward to an even better 2018.
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Land Surveying Commission Report
Lindsay Perry, Chair
The Commission has met by teleconference throughout the year, we correspond regularly by
email and a Face to Face Meeting was held at the beginning of September. We have
representatives from all Regions on the National committee.
Whilst the Commission has been active in each of the Regions, some of the pending national reforms are slow to evolve,
however one emerging issue is the introduction of the National Electronic Lodgement Network (PEXA) and the moves to
100% digital lodgement of land transactions, which is also causing some restrictions on documents formerly able to be
signed by surveyors. Whilst the restrictions may vary from state to state we will be endeavouring in the coming year to
ensure that surveyors are not left out of these new processes when implemented.
GDA2020. With the implementation of GDA 2020, local regional groups have been encouraged to support ICSM through its
GDA Modernisation Implementation Working Group (GMIWG) to provide support to informing stakeholders. The YP’s are
also planning a national webinar on the implications and implementation of GDA2020
Comparison of Development Approval Systems. The development of a comparison of Development Approval Systems in
each State continues to be an ongoing project.
By examining the various Development Approval Systems in each Region may help in recognising procedures that can be
streamlined in some Regions.
Land Registry Privatisation
Since the last report, the NSW Land Registry has been sold with Landgate being appointed as advisors to the purchasing
company. Privatisation discussions continue in S.A and in Victoria a scoping study is about to be released. The outcome of
these programs will most likely impact on other Land Registries in Australia and we are developing a knowledge base to
assist those States who may come under consider for privatisation.
Professional Training Agreement Mentoring
Assisting surveyors to reach registration /licensing in a timely manner is a significant challenge for all regions. We endeavour
to co-ordinate all activities and support those regions assisting surveyors under Professional Training Agreements.
RICS “Chartered Surveyor” Trademark Application
The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) previously made application to trademark the term “Chartered
Surveyor” in Australia. They have about thirty six categories of Chartered Surveyor, none of which relate to Cadastral
Surveying.
The Council of Reciprocating Surveyors Boards of Australia and New Zealand (CRSBANZ) along with SSSI and SIBA defended
this application on the basis that chartered surveyor is a confusing and misleading term, and is not capable of distinguishing
between the services of RICS and the services of the Australian State and Territory Surveyors Boards who provide cadastral
services under the description ‘registered surveyor’, ‘licensed surveyor’ or ‘surveyor’.
IP Australia have finally released their decision and the trade mark application by RICS was rejected. The appeal timeframe
for RICS has now passed, so this may be the end of the matter unless RICS have some other option to explore.

35

Commission Reports
Australian Government Role in the development of our Cities The federal government is becoming increasingly involved
in playing a role in the development of our cities. Last year it introduced initiatives such as City Deals and Smart Cities
Plan and there is currently a Parliamentary Inquiry into examining the Australian Government’s role in the development
of our cities. Where possible we will be and making input into this inquiry and observing the outcomes
Overseas Qualifications Assessment
SSSI is the professional body appointed under the Migration Act to evaluate overseas qualification assessments for
surveyors on behalf of the Federal Government’s Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations.
International:
The Asian Federation of Land Surveyors and Geomatics (AFLAG) has approved and endorsed SSSI to be the host of the
15th South East Asian Survey Conference in 2019. There is also a Trans Tasman conference being proposed within this
time frame.
F.I.G A number of members of this Commission continue to represent surveyors at various levels within the FIG
Commissions and a number of presentations were made at the FIG Working Week in Helsinki earlier this year. An MOU
of co-operation was also signed with the Fiji Institute of Surveyors during this year We now have agreements of cooperation in place with many of our near neighbours in the Pacific Rim. We were also appreciative of the fact that NZIS
declined to be part of the Australian Surveying Alliance proposed by other groups, instead recognising that SSSI is the
national representative body for surveyors in Australia.
International Property Measurement Standards Coalition (IPMSC)
SSSI is now a member of the IPMSC which continues to release its measurement standards for buildings. IPMS’s for
Office Buildings and Residential Buildings were published last year (They are very close to the current PCA Methods). An
IPMS for Industrial Buildings should be released this year and consultation on an IPMS for Retail Buildings will be released
for comment this year. Mike Stapleton from ACT has been appointed as our rep on the IPMS.
International Land Measurement Standards Coalition (ILMS)
SSSI was represented at a meeting of the ILMS at the FIG Working Week in Helsinki. The ILMS will be releasing a Scope &
Draft Consultation Document to develop a set of global land administration standards, before it goes into a 3 month
global consultation process, with the intention of implementing it at FIG Istanbul in June 2018
The Land Surveying Commission Committee has had a number of discussions on making the Locate Conferences more
surveyor friendly and will be passing on some suggestions to the Board. SSSI also seeks to continue further collaboration
with like minded groups in this country and it is proposed to initiate a National Survey Discussion Forum with these other
groups
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Spatial Information and Cartography Commission Report
Hanno Klahn, Chair
It gives me great pleasure to provide an update on the highlights of the Spatial Information
and Cartography Commission and give a bit of an insight in the year ahead. 2017 has been a
good, but challenging year with having to re-vitalize the GISP-AP Certification Panel while
compensating the loss of experienced members like the former chair Jessica Davies.
We had to rely on the extra effort of our existing and new members who have risen to the challenge and helped to
organize and deliver services for the benefit of our members. We were also able to get some extra admin support from the
NSW ROM Katya Zahn.
Over the last year the Commission has:
 Welcomed 40 new members to our Commission
 Accredited 4 new GISP-APs and renewed 2 existing GISP-APs (our current number of certified professionals
increased to 79)
 GISP-AP recipients have been recognized at regional Awards, the public register of certified professionals on the
SSSI website and through other means.
 Maintained and re-vitalized our relationship with similar aligned organizations specifically URISA and ICA.
I would like to thank my strong and eager committee:
Vice-Chair/Queensland Rep: Alan Hobson
Western Australia Rep: Kerry Smyth/Peter Birkett
South Australia: Mary Lewitzka
NSW: Zaffar Sadiq Mohamed-Ghouse/Geeta Kumar
Victoria: Defkalion Kalogridis
The most important achievement last year was the implementation of the GISP-AP Action plan and the re-vitalizing of the
GISP-AP Certification Panel. Due to various reasons the GISP-AP Certification Panel lost a few members and was
increasingly struggling with the timely turn-around of Assessments. A call for support was launched through the Position
magazine, Geo-message and individual emails to recruit new members to the Panel. As part of the GISP-AP Action Plan the
current GISP-AP application and administration processes were reviewed. As part of this review former GISP-AP applicants
were asked to give feedback on their past application experience. Additionally the long standing chair finished his 2 nd term
and was no longer eligible to serve the Panel, so that his position had to be refilled. As a result of various recruitment
methods we were able to recruit 4 additional Panel members, elect a new Chair and design a GISP-AP application process
workflow integrating the feedback we received from past GISP-AP applicants.
A second big achievement was the re-vitalization of our partnership with URISA. We will look forward to sharing workshops
with our SSSI members in the years ahead.
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Looking towards the next financial year, the Commission will be:







Training SSSI facilitators in a new URISA workshop, e.g. the GIS Program Management to assist in establishing a
SSSI Education portal
Holding regular monthly Committee meetings to allow us to set time frames on the long term activities in
particular to strengthen and support the GISP-AP Certification Panel, review and re-vitalise requirements for GISPAP Certification like the Body of Knowledge and to further review and improve the GISP-AP Process (e.g. shorten
the time frame of Certification Assessments and therefore increase the financial revenue of SSSI)
Build partnerships with organisations in Asia-Pacific, investigate if potential commonalities can be found, reinvigorate existing relationships (e.g. with Pacific Island GIS and RS User Conference in Fiji) and assess if conference
programs within Asia-Pacific can receive Accreditation to promote SSSI in Asia Pacific and to make SSSI the beak
body in the region
Ask spatial companies to sponsor the cartographic workshop ‘Back to the roots – How to design a professional
map’, so that the knowledge can be shared throughout Australia ensuring consistency in Cartography and making
SSSI the foundation of Cartography in Australia.

As a conclusion I would like to thank all committee members, past and present for their contribution to our Commission,
who put in a lot of time and effort for the benefit of our members and the institute more broadly. I would also like to thank
the NSW ROM Katya Zahn for the extra invaluable admin support she gives to our Commission. I would like to give a special
mention to Alan Hobson, the outgoing vice-chair of the Commission and thank him for all his ideas and contributions. I wish
him all the best in his future endeavours.
I hereby would like to take the opportunity to give a big thank you to Nick Lawrence for his outstanding, dedicated and
passionate service to SSSI as the GISP-AP Certification Panel Chair. He has held this role for 2 terms, 8 years and was
incremental in the smooth operation of the GISP-AP Certification Panel and helped many new Assessors (me including) in
serving the Panel effectively. An organization like SSSI could not run without Volunteers like him. We applaud you for a job
well done and wish you good luck for the future.
Finally I would like to congratulate Brendan Henry as the new Chair of the GISP-AP Certification Panel and wish all the new
assessors good luck in the year ahead.
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Hydrography Commission Report
Richard Cullen, Chair
Introduction
The industry is changing in a way that should benefit many geospatial data collectors and
users. It is an exciting time for hydrographic surveying and a time which will require our Level
1 certified hydrographic surveyors to mentor and rapidly grow our junior team members
knowledge and
knowledge and experience. Embarking upon commercial survey activities for nautical charting requires that the surveyor
understands not only the survey technology but also, how the mariner uses the data to conduct safe pilotage.
The two words ‘nautical charting’ encompasses much more in the geospatial domain than many would understand. Our
hydrographic surveyors are multi-disciplinary data collectors, processes and analysts. We require high standards, accurate
records, demonstrable evidence and well written reports to support what is critical data. Data that will maintain the safety
of lives at sea, safety of the environment and provide the scientific community with repeatable, accurate data for
modelling our world.
Highlights and Achievements
Here are a few summary dot points on what the Committee have been, and continue to work on for the profession:
 Engagement with new members through a mentor program
 Progressing the promotion of AHSCP Certification through BOSSI NSW
 Review of the Surveying Award MA000066 to introduce and reflect the work environment of hydrographic
surveyors
 Engagement with the Australian Bureau of Statistics on the re-definition of 311415 Hydrographer in ANZSCO and
ANZSIC
 Re-introduction of certification sub-specialisms. This will be launched with the new website. Those who previously
had sub-specialisms noted in their certification will be reinstated with that sub-specialism. Those seeking a subspecialism will need to apply to the AHSCP. Certification as a hydrographic surveyor is the foundation level
required prior to a sub-specialisation being awarded. Further details will be provided on release of the updated
guidelines.

Major Events
The Commission continues to reach out to all geospatial users and providers with events held in Adelaide, Sydney, Brisbane
and Darwin during the year.
We held our first joint Australasian Hydrographic Society and SSSI Hydrography Commission seminar in Darwin for World
Hydrography Day on 21 June. It was a great success and achieved one of the Committee’s objectives to take a CPD event to
an area where we have no Hydrography Commission membership yet, we know there are surveyors operating in the local
area.
The event was open to all Commissions and our Committee Region Representative John Maschke, attempted to entice the
local university students and have it promoted via the local newspaper. It was disappointing however, that no local
university students or lecturers attended and we must assess how to better capture the attendance of YP’s and staff from
such organisations. There were 40 attendees with representation from every State and Territory.
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What to look forward to 2017/2018
Education. The Commission commenced an activity to provide a gap analysis of current survey degrees so that potential
applicants for certification can plan their ongoing education requirements. By identifying the missing hydrographic
surveying modules based upon the IHO S5A and S5B syllabus, the Commission will develop a matrix for each university in
ranking order of most complete degree to least based on the gap.
The gap will be the additional learning required by the individual post degree. This learning would be the knowledge base
the Certification Panel would determine as necessary to fulfil the holistic knowledge of a hydrographic surveyor.
So, who will teach the gap in knowledge? There are already a variety of organisations that provide training in aspects of the
syllabus but perhaps have not focused completely on the syllabus learning objectives. It is envisioned that these
organisations may cease upon this opportunity to provide training aligned to the syllabus by amending their courses. From
there, the course may be assessed to confirm syllabus content compliance and from there recognition by the Certification
Panel that the training fulfills the gap.
Do I need to be an Recognised Training Organisation (RTO)? Thoughts on this at the moment are that we are seeking
knowledge transfer not formal diplomas, certificates etc under the RTO processes. Under the SSSI Sustaining Partnership
Program, there is the capacity of the SSSI to assess the training, recognise the content as applicable to CPD and apply CPD
points. It would be under this premise that training providers could possibly be engaged.
Why would we think of doing it in this manner? Over the past 10 years of attempting to get universities to provide
hydrographic training, the only question they ever ask is “How many students will come through?” The Commission simply
can’t answer this question. A university is a business unit and if dollars immediately apparent, there is no interest.
Therefore, we must think strategically and circumvent universities to provide the additional education beyond the surveying
degree.
New Hydrographer of Australia. In December 2017, the Hydrographer of Australia and Chair of the Australasian
Hydrographic Surveyors Certification Panel, Commodore Brett Brace, RAN will hand over his roles to Commodore Fiona
Freeman, RAN. Commodore Freeman will have the honour to continue the implementation of the Hydroscheme Industry
Partnership Program (HIPP) and facilitate the continuing growth of the geospatial industry through this activity. The
Commission looks forward to continuing the long standing relationship with the Australian Hydrographic Office as a
Sustaining Partner and all of the support that this relationship has provided to advocate on certification and industry
standards.
Perth Event. On 13 & 14 February 2018 the annual joint Face to Face meeting will be held between the Commission
Committee and AHSCP. Following the meeting, on the 15th, a joint AHS/Hydrography Commission seminar will be held. As
many of the Committee and Panel will be in location, this will be an opportunity for the membership to attend and meet
their representatives. There will be an opportunity for a Q&A session during this seminar.
Conclusion
The Commission thanks its sustaining partners the Australian Hydrographic Office, Fugro Survey, iXSurvey, PHS (Precision
Hydrographic Services) and BlueZone Group. We welcome the support of Hydrographic & Cadastral Survey for the new
financial year. We acknowledge the great contribution of the Australasian Hydrographic Society who provide the
connection not just with the professional surveyor but also those who simply love the science of hydrography and want to
be involved. A learned society and professional representative organisation are what continue to make our profession
strong. Combining the two, we grow to understand our traditions, history and why we do what we do.
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Young Professionals Report
Richard Syme, Chair
Introduction
Hi, my name is Richard Syme and I am the current Chair of Young Professionals (YPs). In
October 2016 I was successful in being elected chair of the National YP Committee. I had a hard
act to follow with Joel Dillon doing a fantastic job of leading the YPs in the preceding few years.

With the implementation of the new SSSI Constitution in late 2016, I felt that the transition into the role was a fairly slow
one, as the role and governance of the Institution (which directly affects the YPs) took some time to understand and
appreciate.

Highlights and Achievements
In the first 6 months of 2017 I contributed to the SSSI board by attending Board meetings as a non-voting observer. The
new SSSI Constitution makes allowance for a YP to perform such a role. Seeing how things are run from the top was a
great opportunity to see how the Institute is run and governed. In my time with the Board, I was able to contribute ideas
and issues that affect YPs. With the development of the new SSSI website I was able to participate in beta testing of the
new site and functionality.
The YPs slowly built up momentum in the first 6 months of 2017 and really hit their stride in the middle of the year.
During this time, organisation for our first national webinar was going on in earnest. In April 2017, I attended a Board
meeting and planning day in Sydney (coinciding with Locate17) and in subsequent meetings with President Gaby van
Wyck discussed the need to better understand the needs and issues facing YPs. Gaby and I discussed a proposal to gather
YP feedback and compiling this into a structured report, which could be used by the Board to make impactful changes to
benefit YPs. By the middle of the year, planning for this YP feedback was in full swing.

Major Events
In February 2017, the YP Committee was contacted to review and provide feedback on the 2026 Spatial Industry
Transformation and Growth Agenda.
In March, the VIC YP Committee hosted their annual visit to the State Library Map room. This year the tours proved so
popular that two sessions were run. This event doesn’t fail to attract both SSSI members and other community members
interested in the historic maps and unusual maps on show at the State Library.
On April 6, the NSW branch of the YP Committee held an “Innovation Lab” to coincide with Locate17 in Sydney. This
allowed YPs to consider and contribute ideas towards digital transformation in the property sector, as well as network and
share ideas with industry colleagues.
On 9th and 10th April, the SA YP Committee hosted a booth at the Tertiary Studies and Careers Expo in Adelaide.
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In April, the Committee was successful in establishing YP representation in WA.
On May 12, the SA YPs hosted a Young Professionals and Women In Spatial event. It proved to be an enjoyable success.
About 15 people attended including 8 women.
On May 16, the VIC YP Committee organised a night tour of the Melbourne Observatory at Royal Botanic Gardens. Another
popular event organised by the YPs with some interesting displays of historic telescopes, stories of bygone days and even a
viewing of Jupiter!
What to look forward to 2017/2018
The results of the YP survey will be published and a report prepared for the Board. I’m hoping the results will lead to
positive changes to further the interests YPs.
The Committee aims to continue engagement with our members through informative and practical webinars. We are
currently planning a Surveying themed-webinar and are hoping to run this in the final part of 2017.
The Committee would like to build on the increased participation and representation of Young Professionals in WA and
develop new YP representation in QLD in conjunction with ROMs as well as continue to work with the strong YP
representation in SA, VIC and NSW.
A revamped member database as part of the new website which will enable the Committee to gather demographic details
about YPs and be able to engage with them more effectively and plan better events at locations and times that suit
members.
The Committee looks forward to continuing collaboration with SSSI management as a result of the YP observer role on the
Board.
Conclusion
In conclusion, I am looking forward to using the relationships I have developed in my first year as Chair to continue to
promote events and activities that benefit YPs across the country.
I would like to thank members who have served in either the National or Regional YP Committees since I became chair in
October 2016. All of these individuals are passionate about providing value to SSSI members and generously donate their
time.
I would also like to thank the ROMs who the Committee have worked with to offer incentives for members to complete the
YP survey and who also helped advertise the survey. I would like say thanks to Chris Malouf for welcoming me warmly onto
the Board and generously providing advice and guidance to someone who was relatively inexperienced in the role.
I would also like to thank the Gaby van Wyk for being so passionate about furthering the interests of Young Professionals
across the Institute. Finally I’d like to thank all the Board members for welcoming me into their meetings and allowing me
to partake in some interesting discussions about the strategic direction of the Institute and offer my input as it relates to
interests of YPs.
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Gold Sustaining Partner Reports

DigitalGlobe – Gold Sustaining Partner

DigitalGlobe provides solutions empowered by geospatial intelligence. As the trusted partner of governments, businesses
and organizations around the world, we deliver the timely and reliable insights our customers need to take on their
toughest challenges. With our best-in-class technology, global coverage and 17-year time-lapse image library, we’ve built
the world’s most comprehensive repository of geospatial intelligence—the DigitalGlobe ecosystem—to help our
customers confidently answer questions about our changing planet.
Recently, PSMA Australia Ltd. leveraged DigitalGlobe’s Geospatial Big Data platform (GBDX) to create Geoscape—the
world’s first location intelligence product that captures the built environment of an entire continent. By identifying,
quantifying and defining dozens of attributes for every address in Australia, PSMA is helping its customers deeper their
understanding of the built environment—transforming their ability to derive actionable new insights for their businesses.
How will your business use DigitalGlobe’s expanding capabilities to create new opportunities? Tap into the DigitalGlobe
and See a Better World®

Position magazine and SpatialSource.com.au – Gold Sustaining Partner

Position Magazine and Spatial Source are proud to be continuing as Gold Sustaining Partners with SSSI to strengthen
professionalism and technical knowledge across Australasia.
SpatialSource.com.au has nearly doubled its audience over the past 12 months, cementing its place as the source for
industry news in the region and it now competes internationally. Industry professionals depend on the free weekly
newsletter to help them make sense of a rapidly evolving industry landscape. Redesigned in 2016, the Spatial Source
website gives visitors even more industry news and commentary, and features rich video, animation, and web maps.
Spatial Source is accompanied by its widely regarded print counterpart Position magazine. Published six times a year,
Position has been informing and educating readers for more than 25 years. Subscription is available to all and is included
with SSSI membership. Position is now available in both print and digital, widening its reach and offering readers the
convenience of multiple platforms.
Together, the two publications are the best means to help SSSI-affiliated organisations better communicate with their
industry. For a small team looking to share their achievements or a multinational product and service provider trying to
reach the ANZ market, Position magazine and Spatial Source are the keys to accessing the surveying and spatial sectors.
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AIGO – Bronze Sustaining Partner

Esri Australia – Bronze Sustaining Partner

The longstanding partnership between the Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute (SSSI) and Esri Australia provides
valuable insights to members and industry through combined initiatives, courses and events.
This year, Esri Australia continued its support of Spatial Information Day (SID) by choosing the forum to launch the latest
offering from its Innovation Lab. Technology innovation leader Gary Johnson, alongside SSSI SA chair Franco Rea,
showcased the SmarterWX platform.
Esri Australia also participated in the highly successful 10th International Symposium on Digital Earth and Locate
Conference, co-hosted by SSSI. The group’s involvement included, among other activities, sponsoring of the event’s
smart cities stream.
SSSI members who attended Ozri 2017, the new format Australian Esri User Conference, benefited from the partnership
through the receipt of Continuing Professional Development (CPD) points, which contribute towards SSSI professional
certification and CPD accreditation.
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Position Partners – Bronze Sustaining Partner

With more than 200 people in offices Australia-wide, in South East Asia and New Zealand, Position Partners is the largest
Australian-owned company focussing entirely on the distribution and support of positioning and geospatial solutions for
surveying, civil works, mining and building projects. At Position Partners, we are committed to increasing productivity for
our customers and building lasting business relationships around high calibre positioning activities.
Position Partners is proud to be the exclusive Australian distributor for Topcon machine control and positioning systems,
with complementary solutions from other technology innovators including Z+F 3D laser scanning products, Carlson
mining and landfill machine guidance and industry-leading Remotely Piloted Aircraft Systems (RPAS). Advanced hardware
systems are powered by advanced software platforms that includes Building Information Modelling (BIM) and
infrastructure solutions, DynaRoad mass haul and scheduling tools and MAGNET Enterprise surveying software.
A full range of leading instruments and systems is backed by superior service and industry expertise to give our
customers the support they need for any project.
Photomapping – Bronze Sustaining Partner

Photomapping are the spatial information specialists. Experts in a broad range of geospatial disciplines, our experienced
teams of professionals provide cost effective, tailored solutions of the highest quality for any project.
Our company is involved in all aspects of acquisition, production, presentation and the management of geospatial data
and can provide services to any client, large or small. Our range of cutting edge remote sensing technologies, modern
twin-engine aircraft and dedicated flight crews can respond to aerial LiDAR and Digital Photography requests throughout
Australia, Asia and the Pacific region.
Over 40 years experience in the geospatial industry conducting works for small business, private enterprise and all levels
of government has instilled an ethic of excellence and innovation within our company; Two traits we hope may serve well
in assisting you with your geospatial needs.
We take great pride in our position as an industry leader, and a 100% Australian owned and operated company.
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UPG – Bronze Sustaining Partner

UPG has been helping organisations in the South Pacific gather, analyse and use geospatial data for more than 127 years.
From urban and outback Australia to the shores of Papua New Guinea, we work with the world’s leading technology
suppliers to deliver solutions that specifically meet our customer’s needs across industries including land surveying,
construction, utilities and local government, mining, waste management and field services management.
We are part of a group of Trimble distributors with 11 offices across the region and employ more than 150 solution and
industry specialists. We’ve been a Trimble distribution partner in Australia since 1992.
Our philosophy at UPG is to build and strengthen a long-term business relationship with you – in fact, our most long
standing client has been with us for over a century. This relationship we’ll build with you, based on the values of
excellence, teamwork and integrity means we’re not only here to provide the best solution, we’ll be there through
installation, support, service and repair.

EFM Health Clubs – Sustaining Partner

EFM Health Clubs provides a unique service between a regular gym and a personal trainer. Clients have their very own
fitness coach present every session to take them through a different session every day. The sessions are personalized to
each member to make sure that they are getting the most out of their time in the club and the best results that they
possibly can. We pride ourselves on never locking members into lengthy contracts as our memberships are only on a
month to month basis. EFM is proud to have a partnership with the SSSI and provides all members with a 15% discount at
any one of our health clubs Australia wide. We look forward to working with the SSSI for many years to come.
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TAFE Riverina Institute – Education Sustaining Partner

TAFE NSW Riverina Institute continues to enjoy a sustaining partnership with SSSI. As one of Australia’s foremost
providers of spatial and surveying training via distance-education, we have very much benefitted from the exposure that
SSSI has provided us. We deliver training that utilises Esri, MapInfo and QGIS software.
We continue to experience good enrolments in our nationally accredited Certificate III, Certificate IV and Diploma
qualifications in both Surveying and Spatial Information Services. We offer a variety of Statement of Attainment short
courses including:
 GIS Essentials
 Drone Essentials
 GIS Analysis and Problem Solving
 Spatial Database Essentials
 Mapping on the Web
An exciting development for us is the introduction of One TAFE NSW. There will no longer be separate Institutes. We now
enjoy the benefit of combining resources from other teaching sections within TAFE to ensure the best training experience
for learners.
We have students across Australia and offer training to meet any organisation’s or individual’s needs. We have
established new industry relationships which are fundamental to validating the quality of our learning and assessment
resources. Our teachers bring strong industry experience having worked in private enterprise, Federal and State
Government agencies. This all combines to provide students with an innovative and engaging learning experience. We
look forward to a continued relationship with SSSI into 2018 and beyond.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
Your directors present their report on the financial report of the Institute for the year ended 30 June
2017.
Directors
The following persons are Directors of the Institute at the date of this report:
Gaby van Wyk
President
Jonathan Saxon
Treasurer/Company Secretary
Mike Stapleton
Director
Zaffar Mohamed-Ghouse
Director
Rob Sarib
Director
Lee Hellen
Director
Franco Rea
Director
Alex Leith
Director
Kerry Smyth
Director
Richard Cullen
Director
All directors are participants in the spatial industry in Australia.
During the financial year ended 30 June 2017, twelve meetings of Directors were held. Set out below
are details of each person that was a director during the financial period, the number of meetings
attended by each directors and number of meetings each director was eligible to attend.

Directors during the year and at 30 June 2017:
Gaby van Wyk
President
Treasurer/Company
Jonathan Saxon
Secretary
Zaffar Mohamed-Ghouse
Director
Rob Sarib
Director
Alex Leith
Director
Kerry Smyth
Director
Chris Malouf
Company Secretary
Franco Rea
Director
Richard Cullen
Director
Mike Stapleton
Director
Lee Hellen
Director
Directors retired during the financial year:
Bernard O'Sullivan
Matthew Fry
Craig Smith
Jim Curnow

Director
Director
Director
Company Secretary

Eligible
to
Attend
12

Attendance
12

12

8

12
12
12
12
12
7
7
5
5

10
11
12
12
12
6
5
5
4

10
5
5
5

4
4
4
3

Activities
The principal activity of the Institute during the year ended 30 June 2017 was to provide the
membership framework for spatial professionals to practise and thereby serve the needs of the spatial
community.
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Results & Review of Operations
The net result of operations of the Institute or the year ended 30 June 2017 was an operating
surplus of $285,473 (2016:$188,348)
Dividends
The Institute is a public company limited by guarantee and is prohibited by its objects from
distributing its surplus to the members. Accordingly, no dividend has been paid out or declared for
year ended 30 June 2017 by the Institute.
Directors' Benefits
No directors has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by
the Institute or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he/she is a member, or
with a company in which he/she has a substantial financial interest.
Indemnification of Officers and Directors
The Institute has not, during or since the close of the financial year, in respect of any person who is
or has been an officer or auditor of the Institute or related corporate entity:
(i) Indemnified or made any relevant agreement for indemnifying against a liability incurred as an
officer or auditor including costs and expenses in successfully defending legal proceedings; or
(ii) Paid or agreed to pay a premium in respect of a contract insuring against a liability incurred as
an officer or auditor for the costs or expenses to defend legal proceedings.

Signed this Thirtieth day of November 2017
in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

________________________________
Director

________________________________
Director

DIRECTORS' DECLARATION
The directors declare that:
1. the financial statements and notes required by accounting standards comply with accounting
standards and the Corporations Act 2001;
2. the financial statements and notes gives a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30
June 2017 and performance of the Institute for year ended on that date; and
3. in the opinion of the directors, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Institute will be
able to pay its debts as and when they fall due and payable.
Signed this Thirtieth day of November 2017
in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

________________________________
Director

________________________________
Director
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2017
Note

2017
$

2016
$

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Other
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

4
5
6

1,373,892
54,582
108,078
1,536,552

1,301,724
168,256
65,071
1,535,050

NON CURRENT ASSETS
Plant and equipment
TOTAL NON CURRENT ASSETS

7

635,000
635,000

635,000
635,000

2,171,552

2,170,050

67,169
121,335
54,008
242,512

50,407
422,910
53,391
526,707

-

-

242,512

526,707

NET ASSETS

1,929,040

1,643,343

EQUITY
Retained surplus
Initial Contribution
TOTAL EQUITY

1,928,817
224
1,929,040

1,633,288
10,055
1,643,343

TOTAL ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables
Current tax payable
Provisions
Unearned revenue
Money held in trust
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liability
TOTAL NON CURRENT LIABILITIES

8
9
11
12

10

TOTAL LIABILITIES

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
Note
2017
$
Revenue from ordinary activities
2
1,618,755
Staffing costs
(633,796)
Occupancy costs
(397,928)
Events and administrative costs
(301,556)
Depreciation and amortisation
Income tax expense relating to ordinary activities
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR
285,473
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income attributable to
members

285,473

2016
$
1,492,935
(581,806)
(405,264)
(316,790)
(727)
188,348
188,348

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from members and customers
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

1,421,701
(1,359,527)

18(b)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Initial Contribution
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

18(a)

1,492,856
(1,336,329)

9,770
71,945

12,351
168,878

-

-

224

10,055

72,168
1,301,724
1,373,892

178,933
1,122,790
1,301,724

Retained
Earnings
285,473
224
1,643,343
1,929,040

Total
Equity
188,348
10,055
1,444,941
1,643,343

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Net surplus for the year
Initial Contribution
Retained Earnings at beginning of year
Balance at 30 June 2017
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
Surveying and Spatial Industries Limited applies Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure
Requirements as set out in AASB 1053: Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards and
AASB 2010–2: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure
Requirements.
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements of the Australian
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The company is a not-for-profit
entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.
Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in
financial statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and
conditions. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are
presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise.
The financial report covers the Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute Limited as an individual entity.
Surveying and Spatial Science Institute Limited is a company limited by guarantee, incorporated and
domiciled in Australia. The financial reports incorporates the income, expenses, assets and liabilities of
State and Territory regions which are not separately incorporated.
The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis
and are based on historical costs. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded
to the nearest dollar.
(a) Income Tax
The institute is a not-for-profit organization and only pays tax on non-member income. This year the
institute made a Loss of $52,224.00 from non-member related activity. Therefore no income tax was
applied to the account for 2016-2017 FY. Morover, as the institute brought forward tax losses
$108,036.00 from previous years, total Tax losses of $160,260.00 will be carried forward to next FY.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(b) Property, Plant and Equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less, where applicable, any accumulated
depreciation.
The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is reviewed annually by the Company to ensure
it is not in excess of the remaining service potential of these assets.
Property, plant and equipment purchases with a cost of less than $500 are expensed in the period of
purchase.
All classes of property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight line method.
Depreciation is charged at the following rates:
Class of fixed assets
Rates
Furniture, plant and equipment
10% 40%
The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance
sheet date.
(c) Financial Instruments
Recognition
Financial instruments are initially measured at cost on trade date, which includes transaction costs, when
the related contractual rights or obligations exist. Subsequent to initial recognition these instruments are
measured as set out below.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market and are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Held-to-maturity investments
These investments have fixed maturities, and it is the company’s intention to hold these investments to
maturity. Any held-to-maturity investments held by the company are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method.
Financial liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt less principal
payments and amortisation.
(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with banks or financial
institutions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(e) Employee Benefits
Provision is made for the company’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by
employees to balance date. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have been
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, plus related on costs.
Employee benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the
estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits.
Contributions are made by the company to employees’ superannuation funds and are charged as
expenses when incurred.
(f)
Leases
Leases of fixed assets where substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the
asset, but not the legal ownership, are transferred to the company, are classified as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised recording an asset and a liability equal to the present value of the
minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values. Lease payments are allocated
between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the period.
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the
lessor, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.
(g)
Comparative figures
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in
this financial report.
(h)
Revenue and expense recognition
The Institute's membership subscription year runs from 1 July to 30 June. Only the membership fees and
subscription receipts which are attributable to the current financial year are recognised as revenue.
Operational grants are recognised as revenue progressively over the period of the grant. Operational
grants received in respect of future financial years are recognised as income received in advance
(liabilities, unearned revenue).
Project grants are recognised as revenue to the extent that the monies have been applied in accordance
with the conditions of the grant. Project grants received prior to the year end but unexpended as at
that date are recognised as unexpended project grants (liabilities, unearned revenue).
Conference and seminar income is recognised as revenue on completion of the event. Income
received prior to the holding of the event is recognised as income received in advance (liabilities,
unearned income). Expenses incurred prior to the event are recognised as deferred costs (other current
assets). Where a professional conference organisers ("PCO") is used, only the net income/expense is
recognised in the income statement. Advances of seed money paid to PCO's and the balance of any
surplus receivable for completed events is recognised as amounts receivable for events (receivables).
Publications sales are recognised upon delivery of goods to the customer.
Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the customer.
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

54

Financial Statements
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(i)
Impairment
At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell
and value in use, is compared to the asset's carrying value. As a not-for-profit entity, value in use for the
company, according to AASB 136 Impairment of Assets, is depreciated replacement cost. Any excess of
the asset's carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the income statement.
(j)
Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial report based on
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation
of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within
the Company.
Key estimates - Impairment
The Company assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the
Company that may lead to impairment of assets. Should an impairment indicator exist, the determination
of the recoverable amount of the asset may require incorporation of a number of key estimates. No
impairment indicators were present at 30 June 2017.
2017
$

2016
$

Note 2: Revenue
(a) Revenues
Operating activities:
Membership Fees

597,283

Sustaining Partner Income

136,452

Conference & other seminar fees

477,247

Certification & Qualification assessment
Publication sales
Locate Conference Service Fee
Management Fees
Interest
Donation to Institute from QLD IEMS
Other
Total Revenue

66,479
32,069
30,455
18,200
9,770
243,657
7,144

520,528
59,854
38,619
18,200
12,351
12,470

1,618,755

1,492,935

649,118
181,795
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE
2017
2017
$
Note 3: Income tax expense
Prima facie income tax payable/(benefit) on surplus from
ordinary activities before income tax at 30%
Add (Subtract) tax effect of:
Members expenses not deductible
Members income not assessable
Tax losses not recognised (recouped)
Income tax expense relating to ordinary
activities

2016
$

-

-

1,373,542
350
-

1,301,374
350
-

1,373,892

1,301,724

54,582
54,582

168,256
-

Note 4: Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand and at bank
Cash on hand
Undeposited Funds
Electronic Clearing Account

Note 5: Receivables
CURRENT
Trade debtors
Other receivables

168,256
Note 6: Other current assets
Prepayments and deferred events costs

108,078

Note 7: Property, plant and equipment
Property, Furniture, plant and equipment – at cost

635,000

65,071

724,770
Accumulated depreciation

(89,770)

Total Property, Plant and Equipment

635,000
635,000

(a) Movement in the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of the current
financial year
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE
2017
2017
$
Opening Balance
Additions
Depreciation and amortisation expense

2016
$

635,000
-

635,727
(727)

Closing Balance

635,000
635,000

Note 8: Payables
CURRENT
Unsecured liabilities:
Creditors and accrued expenses
Other Payables

Note 9: Current tax assets and liabilities
CURRENT
Current tax payable

Note 10: Lease liability
CURRENT
Lease liability

Note 11: Unearned revenue
CURRENT
Members fees in advance

50,818
16,350
67,169

47,903
2,504
50,407

-

-

-

-

-

-

8,510
215,813

Sustaining Partner Income in Advance

11,606

Conference income received in advance
Sponsorship Credit
Surcharge

72,018
29,201

105,717
60,633
40,748

121,335
422,910
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE
2017
2017
$
Note 12: Money held in trust
Mouat Tree project Holding Account
Other Project Holding Account
Holding

2016
$

51,679
2,329
54,008

51,063
2,327
53,391

Note 13: Employee information
The aggregate employee benefit liability recognised and included in the financial report is as follows:
CURRENT
4,505
3,970
Payables (Note 8)
Aggregate employee benefit liability
Number of employees at year end

4,505

3,970

11

9

Note 14: Company details
(a) Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute Limited represents members in the field of spatial
information in Australia.
(b) The registered office and the principal place of business of the institute is 1st Floor, National
Surveyors House, 27-29 Napier Close, Deakin ACT 2600
(c) The Institute is a company limited by guarantee (ACN 135 572 815)
On the winding up of the Institute each member is required to contribute up to $20.00 per member to
meet any outstanding liabilities of the Institute.
Note 15: Key management personnel
(a) Details of Key Management Personnel
Names and positions held of key management personnel in office at any time during the financial year are:

(i) Directors of Surveying & Spatial Sciences Institute Limited:
Gaby van Wyk
President
Jonathan Saxon
Treasurer/Company Secretary
Mike Stapleton
Director
Zaffar Mohamed-Ghouse
Director
Rob Sarib
Director
Lee Hellen
Director
Franco Rea
Director
Alex Leith
Director
Kerry Smyth
Director
Richard Cullen
Director
Bernard O'Sullivan
Director
Matthew Fry
Director
Chris Malouf
Company Secretary
Craig Smith
Director
James Curnow
Company Secretary
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE
2017
2017
$

2016
$

(ii) Executives
Chris Malouf
James Curnow

General Manager / Secretary
Secretary

(b) Compensation of Key Management Personnel
Short-term
benefits
$

Post
employment
benefits

Total

$

$

2017
Total compensation (Chris Malouf)
120,000

11,400

131,400

The directors did not receive any remuneration directly or indirectly from the Company or any related
body corporate for management of the Company, other than reimbursements of expenses incurred
on behalf of the Company.
Note 15: Related Parties
No related parties applied
Note 16: Auditors' remuneration
Remuneration of the auditor for:
Auditing the financial report
Other services

6,000
6,000

6,500
6,500

Note 17: Leasing commitments
Not Applicable
Note 18: Cash flow information
(a) Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is represented by the
following items:
Cash assets
1,373,892

1,301,724

(b) Reconciliation of net cash relating to operating activities to net surplus
285,473
Net surplus
188,751
Non-cash flows in operating surplus:
Depreciation and amortisation

-

727
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE
2017
2017
$
Changes in assets and liabilities:
113,674
(Increase)/Decrease in receivables

2016
$

(9,053)
(Increase)/Decrease in other current assets
(43,008)
16,762

Increase/(Decrease) in payables

-

(28,353)
577

(301,575)
617
71,945

20,748

Increase/(Decrease) in employee benefits provision
Increase/(Decrease) in unearned revenue
Increase/(Decrease) in current tax payable
Increase/(Decrease) in money held in trust
Net cash relating to operating activities

(4,519)

168,878
(c) Restricted Cash
There is no restricted Cash
Note 19: Subsequent Events
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly effects the
operations of the Company.
Note 20: Financial Instruments
Financial Assets
Cash and
Trade &
Cash
Other
Equivalents
receivables
Non-Interest Bearing
Fixed Interest Maturing - 1 Year or less
Fixed Interest Maturing - 1 to 2 Years
Fixed Interest Maturing - 2 to 5 Years
Fixed Interest Maturing - More than 5 Years
Floating Interest

Financial Liabilities
Trade &
Income in
Other
Advance
Payables

350

54,582

67,169

-

-

-

54,582

67,169

121,335
-

1,373,542
1,373,892

121,335

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial asset or liability will change due to interest rate
fluctuations. No financial assets or liabilities were subject to interest rate risk with the exception of
variable rate at call cash deposits.
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(a) Financial Risk Management
The Company’s principal financial instruments comprise cash at bank, receivables and accounts payable.
The Company does not have any derivative instruments at 30 June 2017. It is, and has been throughout
the period under review, the Company’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be
undertaken.
The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are interest rate risk and credit risk. The
policies for managing each of these risks are summarised below.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial asset or liability will change due to interest rate
fluctuations. No financial assets or liabilities were subject to interest rate risk with the exception of
variable rate at call cash deposits.
Credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date to recognised financial assets is the carrying
amount as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements.
(b) Net Fair Values
The net fair value of financial assets and liabilities approximates the values shown in the statement of
balance sheet and the notes thereto.

61

12 Auditor’s Report
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDECE DECLARATION TO THE DIRECTORS OF
SURVEYING AND SPATIAL SCIENCES INSTITUTE LIMITED

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2017 there have
been:
(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001
in relation to the Audit; and
(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

John Beard
Registered Company Auditor 15775
Dated this 20th day of November 2017

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS OF
SURVEYING AND SPATIAL SCIENCES INSTITUTE LIMITED
Report on the Financial Report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute Limited (the company),
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017, the statement of profit or loss, statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’
declaration.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the Corporations Act 2001 and
for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Auditor’s Report
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to
audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the Company’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
report.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.
Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. We confirm
that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to the Directors of
Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the Directors as at the time of this
auditor’s report.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial report of Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute Limited is in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including:
(i)
(ii)

giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2017 and of its performance for the year
ended on that date; and
complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the Corporations
Regulations 2001.

John Beard
Registered Company Auditor 15775
Dated this 20th day of November 2017
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